
 
AGENDA – BOARD OF DIRECTORS – SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 

1 
 

  
 

 

 

AGENDA 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of 
San Diego Community Power (SDCP) 

 
April 22, 2021 

 
5:00 p.m.  

 
Due to the public health orders and guidelines in California and in accordance with the Governor’s Executive 

Orders N-25-20 and N-29-20, there will be no location for in-person attendance. SDCP is providing alternatives 
to in-person attendance for viewing and participating in the meeting. Further details are below. 

 
Note: Any member of the public may provide comments to the SDCP Board of Directors on any agenda item. 
When providing comments to the Board, it is requested that you provide your name and city of residence for the 
record.  Commenters are requested to address their comments to the Board as a whole through the Chair. 
Comments may be provided in one of the following manners: 

1. Providing Oral Comments During Meeting. To provide comments during the meeting, join the Zoom 
meeting by computer, mobile phone, or dial-in number.  On Zoom video conference by computer or 
mobile phone, use the “Raise Hand” feature. This will notify the moderator that you wish to speak during 
a specific item on the agenda or during non-agenda Public Comment. Members of the public will not be 
shown on video but will be able to speak when called upon. If joining the meeting using the Zoom dial-in 
number, you can raise your hand by pressing *9. Comments will be limited to three (3) minutes. 
 

2. Written Comments. Written public comments must be submitted prior to the start of the meeting by using 
this (web form). Indicate a specific agenda item when submitting your comment. All written comments 
received prior to the meeting will be provided to the Board members in writing. In the discretion of the 
Chair, the first ten (10) submitted comments shall be stated into the record of the meeting. Comments 
read at the meeting will be limited to the first 400 words. Comments received after the start of the meeting 
will be collected, sent to the Board members in writing, and be part of the public record. 

If you have anything that you wish to be distributed to the Board, please provide it via 
info@sdcommunitypower.org, who will distribute the information to the Members.  

The public may participate using the following remote options: 

Teleconference Meeting Webinar 

https://zoom.us/j/94794075133 

Telephone (Audio Only)  

(669) 900-6833 or (346) 248-7799  | Webinar ID: 947 9407 5133 

  

https://docs.google.com/forms/d/e/1FAIpQLSc2YkGwouduQEmwyOe-hlGAciNPlI6attY_QafSsPG1M0YaIg/viewform?usp=pp_url
mailto:info@sdcommunitypower.org
https://www.google.com/url?q=https://zoom.us/j/94794075133&sa=D&source=calendar&ust=1616887069364000&usg=AOvVaw2-U-6hPIHkok0FazSYm5lQ


 
AGENDA – BOARD OF DIRECTORS – SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 

2 
 

  
 

 

Welcome 
 
Call to Order 

 
Pledge of Allegiance  

 
Roll Call 
 
Items to be Added, Withdrawn, or Reordered on the Agenda 
 
Public Comments 
Opportunity for members of the public to address the Board on any items not on the agenda but within the 
jurisdiction of the Board.  Members of the public may use the web form noted above to provide a comment 
or request to speak. 

 
Consent Calendar 
All matters are approved by one motion without discussion unless a member of the Board of Directors 
requests a specific item to be removed from the Consent Agenda for discussion. A member of the public may 
use the web form noted above to comment on any item on the Consent Calendar. 
 
1. Approval of the minutes of the Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors of San Diego Community 

Power held on March 25, 2021.  
2. Treasurer’s Report – Presentation of Financial Results for 2020/21 Period ended 2/28/21 
3. Approval of SDCP Representative and Alternate to the La Mesa Environmental Sustainability 

Commission 
 

REGULAR AGENDA 
The following items call for discussion or action by the Board of Directors. The Board may discuss and/or 
take action on any item listed below if the Board is so inclined. 

 
4. Operations and Administration Report from the Interim Chief Executive Officer  

 
Recommendation: Receive and file update on various operational and administration activities.  
 

5. Update on Regulatory and Legislative Affairs 
 
Recommendation: Receive and file the update on regulatory and legislative affairs. 

 
6. Committee Reports 

 
Recommendation:  
1. Receive and file update form the Finance and Risk Management Committee. 
2. Receive and file update from the Community Advisory Committee.   
 

7. Approval of an Updated Rate Schedule to be Effective June 1, 2021 
 
Recommendation: Adopt the updated rate schedule to become effective June 1, 2021. 
 

 



 
AGENDA – BOARD OF DIRECTORS – SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 

3 
 

  
 

8. Phase 3 Customer Enrollment Schedule 
 
Recommendation: Adopt the proposed phase-in schedule for Phase 3 customer enrollment. 
 

9. Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy Farm, LLC 
 
Recommendation: Adopt the Long-term Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy 
Farm, LLC. 

 
Director Comments 
Board Members may briefly provide information to other members of the Board and the public, ask questions of 
staff, request an item to be placed on a future agenda, or report on conferences, events, or activities related to 
SDCP business. There is to be no discussion or action taken on comments made by Directors unless authorized 
by law. 
 
Reports by Management and General Counsel 
SDCP Management and General Counsel may briefly provide information to the Board and the public. The Board 
may engage in discussion if the specific subject matter of the report is identified below, but the Board may not 
take any action other than to place the matter on a future agenda. Otherwise, there is to be no discussion or 
action taken unless authorized by law.   
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
Compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act 
 

SDCP Board of Directors meetings comply with the protections and prohibitions of the Americans with Disabilities 
Act. Individuals with a disability who require a modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or 
services, in order to participate in the public meeting may contact (888) 382-0169 or 
info@sdcommunitypower.org. Requests for disability-related modifications or accommodations require different 
lead times and should be provided at least 72-hours in advance of the public meeting.    
 
Availability of Board Documents 
 

Copies of the agenda and agenda packet are available at https://sdcommunitypower.org/resources/meeting-
notes/. Late-arriving documents related to a Board meeting item which are distributed to a majority of the 
Members prior to or during the Board meeting are available for public review as required by law. Previously, 
public records were available for inspection at the City of San Diego Sustainability Department, located at 1200 
Third Ave., Suite 1800, San Diego, CA 92101. However, due to the Governor’s Executive Orders N-25-20 and 
N-29-20 and the need for social distancing, in-person inspection is now suspended. Public records, including 
agenda-related documents, can instead be requested electronically at info@sdcommunitypower.org or by mail 
to SDCP, 815 E Street, Suite 12716, San Diego, CA 92112. The documents may also be posted at the above 
website. 
 
 



 

 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 2 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Michael Maher, Maher Accountancy 
 
Subject:  Treasurer’s Report - Presentation of Financial Results for 2020/21 Period 

ended 2/28/21  
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Receive and file report.  
 
BACKGROUND 
San Diego Community Power (SDCP) maintains its accounting records on a full accrual 
basis in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) as applicable 
to governmental enterprise funds.  

SDCP has prepared financial statements for the period ended February 28, 2021 as well 
as a budgetary comparison statement for the same period.  

ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
Financial Comments: 

• SDCP’s main source of funding at this point is its Line of Credit with River City 
Bank (RCB).  

• As planned, SDCP is running a deficit balance and will continue to do so until 
sufficient revenues from retail customers occur during the latter half of the fiscal 
year.  
 

Budget Comments: 
• SDCP staff intends to bring an amended 2020/21 (current year) budget to the 

Board for approval in the May 2021 meeting. This amendment is intended better 
align the budget to current forecasts of revenues and expenses 

• SDCP staff intends to bring the proposed 2021/22 (next year) budget for the 
Board’s review in the May 2021 meeting, with final approval of the budget occurring 
in the June 2021 meeting. 

 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Not applicable 



 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: 2020/21 Period Ended 2/28/21 Financial Statements 
Attachment B: 2020/21 Period Ended 2/28/21 Budgetary Comparison Statement 
 



1 

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT 

Management  
San Diego Community Power 

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial statements of San Diego Community Power 
(a California Joint Powers Authority) which comprise the statement of net position as of February 28, 
2021, and the related statement of revenues, expenses, and changes in net position, and the statement of 
cash flows for the period then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America.  We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance with 
Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and 
Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not audit or review the accompanying statements 
nor were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the 
information provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, conclusion, nor 
provide any assurance on these financial statements.  

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the note disclosures required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America in these interim financial statements. If the 
omitted disclosures were included in these financial statements, they might influence the user’s 
conclusions about the Authority’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.  Accordingly, 
these financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such matters.  

We are not independent with respect to the Authority because we performed certain accounting services 
that impaired our independence. 

Maher Accountancy 
San Rafael, CA 
March 31, 2021 

1101 Fi fth Avenue, Suite 200  San Rafael, CA  94901    415 459 1249  mahercpa.com 



Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 486,108$       
Miscellaneous receivables 251,821         
Deposits 850,000         

Total current assets 1,587,929      
Noncurrent assets

Restricted cash 7,500,000      
Total assets 9,087,929      

Current liabilities
Accrued cost of energy 2,833,446      
Accounts payable 313,589         
Payroll liabilities 54,293           
Other accrued liabilities 100,000         
Security deposits 1,581,000      
Interest payable 87,020           

Total current liabilities 4,969,348      

Noncurrent liabilities
Other noncurrent liabilities 582,176         
Bank note payable 6,290,082      
Loans payable 5,000,000      

Total noncurrent liabilities 11,872,258    
Total liabilities 16,841,606    

Unrestricted (deficit) (7,753,677)     
Total net position (7,753,677)$   

NET POSITION

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

As of February 28, 2021

ASSETS

LIABILITIES

See accountants' compilation report. 2



OPERATING REVENUES
    Sales for resale 1,073,434$    

OPERATING EXPENSES
    Cost of energy 5,810,651      
    Contract services 1,347,135      
    Staff compensation 288,140         
    General and administration 220,469         
      Total operating expenses 7,666,395      
        Operating income (loss) (6,592,961)     

NONOPERATING EXPENSES
    Interest and financing expense 90,606           
      Total nonoperating expenses 90,606           

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (6,683,567)     
    Net position at beginning of period (1,070,110)     
    Net position at end of period (7,753,677)$   

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES

AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
July 1, 2020 through February 28, 2021

See accountants' compilation report. 3



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts of supplier collateral 1,581,000$    
Payments to suppliers for electricity (2,155,592)     
Payments for goods and services (1,577,190)     
Payments to employees for services (233,847)        
Payments for deposits and collateral (750,000)        

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (3,135,629)     

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from loans 5,300,000      
Interest and related expense payments (17,245)          

Net cash provided (used) by non-capital 
  financing activities 5,282,755      

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 2,147,126      
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 5,838,982      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 7,986,108$    

Reconciliation to the Statement of Net Position
Cash and cash equivalents (unrestricted) 486,108         
Restricted cash 7,500,000      

Cash and cash equivalents 7,986,108$    

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

July 1, 2020 through February 28, 2021

See accountants' compilation report. 4



Operating income (loss) (6,592,961)$   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss) to net

cash provided (used) by operating activities
(Increase) decrease in:

Other receivables (251,821)        
Prepaid expenses 25,000           
Deposits (750,000)        

Increase (decrease) in:
Accrued cost of electricity 2,833,446      
Accounts payable (16,453)          
Payroll liabilities 54,293           
Other accrued liabilities (18,133)          
Supplier security deposits 1,581,000      

  Net cash provided (used) by operating activities (3,135,629)$   

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

July 1, 2020 through February 28, 2021

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET 
CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

See accountants' compilation report. 5



1 

ACCOUNTANTS’ COMPILATION REPORT 

Board of Directors 
San Diego Community Power 

Management is responsible for the accompanying special purpose statement of San Diego Community 
Power (SDCP), a California Joint Powers Authority, which comprise the budgetary comparison schedule 
for the period ended February 28, 2021, and for determining that the budgetary basis of accounting is an 
acceptable financial reporting framework. We have performed a compilation engagement in accordance 
with Statements on Standards for Accounting and Review Services promulgated by the Accounting and 
Review Services Committee of the AICPA. We did not audit or review the accompanying statement nor 
were we required to perform any procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information 
provided by management. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion, a conclusion, nor provide any 
assurance on this special purpose budgetary comparison statement.  

The special purpose statement is prepared in accordance with the budgetary basis of accounting, 
which is a basis of accounting other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America. This report is intended for the information of the Board of Directors of SDCP. 

Management has elected to omit substantially all of the note disclosures required by accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America in these interim financial statements. 
SDCP’s annual audited financial statements will include the note disclosures omitted from these interim 
statements. If the omitted disclosures were included in these financial statements, they might influence 
the user’s conclusions about the Authority’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. 
Accordingly, these financial statements are not designed for those who are not informed about such 
matters.  

We are not independent with respect to SDCP because we performed certain accounting services that 
impaired our independence. 

Maher Accountancy 
San Rafael, CA 
March 31, 2021 

1101 Fi fth Avenue, Suite 200  San Rafael, CA  94901    415 459 1249  mahercpa.com 



 2020/21 YTD 
Budget  

 2020/21 YTD 
Actual 

2020/21 YTD 
Budget 

Variance 
(Under) Over

2020/21 
YTD 

Actual/ 
Budget %

 2020/21 
Annual  
Budget 

 2020/21 
Budget 

Remaining 
REVENUES AND OTHER SOURCES
    Working capital from River City Bank 22,500,000$    5,300,000        (17,200,000)$  24% 24,600,000$    19,300,000$    
    Ratepayer revenues -                      -                      -                      0% 22,688,892      22,688,892      
    Less uncollectibles -                      -                      -                      0% (56,722)           (56,722)           
      Total Revenues and Other Sources 22,500,000      5,300,000        (17,200,000)    47,232,170      41,932,170      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Operations and Administration
    Professional fees 233,333          195,051          (38,282)           84% 350,000          154,949          
    Board and Committee Expenses 10,000            -                      (10,000)           0% 15,000            15,000            
    Staffing 489,501          288,140          (201,361)         59% 1,500,000       1,211,860       
    General and Administrative 233,333          90,283            (143,050)         39% 350,000          259,717          
    Debt Service and Bank Fees 280,000          90,606            (189,394)         32% 1,048,000       957,394          
     Total Operations and Administration 1,246,167        664,080           (582,087)         3,263,000        2,598,920        

CAISO/Utility Fees
    CAISO deposit 500,000          -                      (500,000)         0% 500,000          500,000          
    Financial Security Bond (CPUC) 50,000            -                      (50,000)           0% 50,000            50,000            
    SDG&E billing service fees -                      -                      -                      0% 5,768              5,768              
     Total CAISO/Utility Fees 550,000           -                      (550,000)         555,768           555,768           

Technical and Energy Services
    Power contracting, portfolio and rate design 154,000          181,035          27,035            118% 273,000          91,965            
    Scheduling Fees -                      -                      -                      0% 8,000              8,000              
    Cost of Power 4,404,185       4,737,217       333,032          108% 32,511,279     27,774,062     
    Collateral/Lockbox reserves 5,000,000       -                      (5,000,000)      0% 5,000,000       5,000,000       
     Total Technical and Energy Services 9,558,185        4,918,252        (4,639,933)      37,792,279      32,874,027      

Communications & Customer Enrollment
    Marketing strategy and branding 65,000            341,913          276,913          526% 65,000            (276,913)         
    Permanent Website + Maintenance 45,000            -                      (45,000)           0% 45,000            45,000            
    Collateral Design/Video 30,000            -                      (30,000)           0% 60,000            60,000            
    PR/Advertising Campaign 75,000            -                      (75,000)           0% 150,000          150,000          
    Community Engagement 62,500            -                      (62,500)           0% 125,000          125,000          
    Materials for tabling and events (design/print) 15,000            -                      (15,000)           0% 30,000            30,000            
    Customer Notifications (@ $0.80 each) 24,500            -                      (24,500)           0% 49,000            49,000            
    Community Sponsorships, etc. 25,000            7,500              (17,500)           30% 25,000            17,500            
     Total Communications & Customer Enrollment 342,000           349,413           7,413               549,000           199,587           

Legal
    General Counsel Services 80,000             290,307           210,307          363% 120,000          (170,307)         
    Legal review of power supply & other contracts 80,000             -                      (80,000)           0% 120,000          120,000          
     Total Legal 160,000           290,307           130,307           240,000           (50,307)           

Regulatory Legislative
    Cal-CCA Membership 37,500             17,686             (19,814)           47% 50,000            32,314            
    Regulatory Monitoring and Reporting 133,333           338,828           205,495          254% 200,000          (138,828)         
    Participation in Regulatory /Compliance Matters 66,667             -                      (66,667)           0% 100,000          100,000          
    Lobbyist 40,000             -                      (40,000)           0% 60,000            60,000            
     Total Regulatory Legislative 277,500           356,514           79,014             410,000           53,486             
       Total Operating Expenses 12,133,852      6,578,566        (5,555,286)      42,810,047      36,231,481      

NET SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 10,366,148$    (1,278,566)$    (11,644,714)$  4,422,123$      5,700,689$      

This budget does not include: 1) Reimbursable expenses for City of San Diego, La Mesa, and Encinitas,  2) Local Programs, and 3) Reserve Funds. 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE

July 1, 2020 through February 28, 2021

See accountants' compilation report. 2



 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 3 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO 
 
Subject:  Approval of SDCP Representative and Alternate to the City of La Mesa 

Environmental Sustainability Commission 
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Approve appointment of SDCP Representative and Alternate to the City of La Mesa 
Environmental Sustainability Commission.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The City of La Mesa’s Environmental Sustainability Commission serves as an advisory 
body to their City Council on how actions and policies of the city may preserve and 
enhance the quality of La Mesa’s environment. The Commission also serves to address 
the effects of climate change and assist in the identification of measures that will improve 
environmental sustainability in La Mesa and the region.  
 
La Mesa staff have requested SDCP staff participation as a non-voting member of the 
Commission and the city has amended Chapter 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code 
to add SDCP as a non-voting representative of the Environmental Sustainability 
Commission, pending an appointment from the Board of Directors of San Diego 
Community Power. The first and second reading of this ordinance is found as Attachment 
A and B, respectively.   
 
If fully approved, the Commission makeup would be seven members as residents of the 
City of La Mesa with voting privileges and six members as advisory in nature from the 
business community without voting privileges. The six non-voting members are made up 
of representatives from the City of La Mesa’s water utility, franchise waste and recycling 
hauler, electricity and gas utility, high school, and elementary/middle school district.  
 
ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
Per their request, staff recommends appointing staff to a non-voting member role on La 
Mesa’s Environmental Sustainability Commission in order to contribute to sustainability 
thought leadership and seek opportunities for collaboration within one of our member 
cities. By engaging in this local effort, staff sees value in building programmatic efforts 
and better understanding the unique electricity goals and needs of La Mesa.  
 



 

If approved, SDCP’s CEO will appoint Sebastian Sarria, Policy and Program Manager, to 
serve as SDCP’s primary representative and Nelson Lomeli, Program Manager, to serve 
as the alternate representative. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: SDCP ESC Member Staff Report First Reading 2021 
Attachment B: SDCP ESC Member Staff Report Second Reading 2021 
Attachment C: Draft Appointment Letter from SDCP 



2

DATE: 

CITY OF 

LAMESA 
JEWEL of the HILLS STAFF REPORT 

REPORT to the MAYOR and MEMBERS of the CITY COUNCIL 
From the CITY MANAGER 

March 9, 2021 

SUBJECT: First Reading of an Ordinance Amending Chapter 2.85.010 of 
the La Mesa Municipal Code to Add a San Diego Community 
Power Representative as a Non-voting Member of the 
Environmental Sustainability Commission 

ISSUING DEPARTMENT: CITY MANAGER 

SUMMARY: 

Issue: 

Should the City Council approve the introduction and First Reading of an ordinance 
amending Chapter 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code to add a San Diego 
Community Power representative as a non-voting member of the Environmental 
Sustainability Commission? 

Recommendation: 

Staff recommends the City Council approve the introduction and First Reading of an 
ordinance amending Chapter 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code to add a San 
Diego Community Power representative as a non-voting member of the 
Environmental Sustainability Commission. 

Fiscal Impact: 

There is no fiscal impact associated with the staff recommendation. 

BACKGROUND: 

In September of 2019, the cities of San Diego, Chula Vista, La Mesa, Encinitas, and Imperial 
Beach adopted an ordinance and resolution to form San Diego Community Power ("SDCP") . 
SDCP is a Community Choice Energy and California joint powers agency that, in partnership 
with San Diego Gas and Electric ("SDGE"), will provide reliable, affordable clean energy from 
renewable sources to approximately 770,000 total customers in these five cities . SDCP will 
begin serving municipal customers in March 2021 with commercial and industrial customers 
starting in June of 2021 and residential customers beginning in January 2022. 



Report to Mayor and Council Members 
Date: March 9, 2021 
Page: 2 of 2 

DISCUSSION: 

At the February 9th Council meeting, the Chair of the Environmental Sustainability 
Commission presented an update on the progress of the Commission's 2021 Work Plan. As 
part of the presentation, the Chair recommended that the City Council amend Section 
2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code to add a non-voting member from SDCP to the 
Commission. Prior to the February 9th meeting, staff reached out to SDCP and confirmed the 
organization would be interested in becoming a non-voting member. At the February 23 rd 

Council meeting, the Council directed staff to bring back an ordinance amending Section 
2.85.010 to add the SDCP representative to the Commission. 

To effectuate the City Council's direction, the adoption of a draft ordinance amending Section 
2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code is necessary and is attached to this report as 
Attachment "A". If the City Council approves the introduction and First Reading of the draft 
ordinance, the item would return to the City Council on March 23, 2021, for the Second 
Reading and adoption. If the Second Reading is approved and the draft ordinance is 
adopted, it would become effective thirty (30) days thereafter and the SDCP representative 
would assume appointment to the Commission at the next regularly scheduled meeting. 

CONCLUSION: 

Staff recommends the City Council approve the introduction and First Reading of an 
ordinance amending Chapter 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code to add a San Diego 
Community Power representative as a non-voting member of the Environmental Sustainability 
Commission. 

Reviewed by: 

Greg Humora 
City Manager 

Attachment A. Amended Ordinance 

Respectfully submitted by: 

Ca
� 

Assistant City Manager 

�"'-"•'-f•r 
on 

Senior Management Analyst 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-

AN ORDINANCE . OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA MESA 
AMENDING SECTION 2.85.010 OF THE LA MESA MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADD 
A SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER REPRESENTATIVE AS A NON-VOTING 
MEMBER OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY COMMISSION 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA MESA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Section 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 

"There is hereby created the Environmental Sustainability Commission (Commission) of 
the City of La Mesa. The Commission shall consist of thirteen members. Seven members shall 
be residents of the City of La Mesa with voting privileges and six members shall be advisory 
members from the business community without voting privileges. The seven members that are 
residents of the City of La Mesa shall be comprised as follows: two members from the general 
populous; three members with professional experience related to environmental sustainability; 
one member representing the senior adult population (at the time of appointment shall be not 
less than fifty-five years of age); and one member representing the youth population (at the time 
of appointment or reappointment shall be not more than twenty-one years of age). Each of the 
seven members shall be entitled to one vote on matters before the Commission. The six 
members from the business community shall be representatives from the City's water utility, 
franchise waste and recycling hauler, electricity and gas utility, San Diego Community Power, 
high school, and elementary/middle school district. These six members shall not be required to 
be residents of the City, but shall act as advisory members on the commission and shall not be 
entitled to vote." 

SECTION 2: This Ordinance shall be effective 30 days after its adoption and the City 
Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance and cause the same to be published at least 
once in the Daily Transcript within 15 days of its adoption. 

ATTACHMENT A 



INTRODUCED AND FIRST READ at a Regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 
La Mesa, California, held the 9th day of March 2021, and thereafter PASSED AND ADOPTED 
at a Regular meeting of said City Council held the 23rd day of March 2021, by the following 
vote, to wit: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 

MARK ARAPOSTATHIS, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

MEGAN WIEGELMAN, CMC, City Clerk 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY CLERK 

I, MEGAN WIEGELMAN, City Clerk of the City of La Mesa, California, do hereby certify 
the foregoing to be a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 2021- duly passed and 
adopted by the City Council of said City on the date and by the vote therein recited and that the 
same has been duly published according to law. 

MEGAN WIEGELMAN, CMC, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



~-~-~--~--~-HIL_~_S_A _____________ ,N_T_E_R_O_FF_IC_E_M_E_M_O_ 

DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

VIA: 

SUBJECT: 

March 23, 2021 

Mayor and Members of the City Council 

Megan Wiegelman, City Clerk 

Greg Humora, City Manag~fi& (:/ 
Glenn Sabine, City Attorne~\ 

Second Reading and Adoption of an Ordinance of the City Council of the 
City of La Mesa Amending Section 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal 
Code ("LMMC") to add a San Diego Community Power Representative as 
a Non-Voting Member of the Environmental Sustainability Commission 

At the Council meeting of March 9, 2021, the Council unanimously approved the 
introduction and first reading of the Ordinance amending Section 2.85.010 of the LMMC 
to add a San Diego Community Power representative as a non-voting member of the 
Environmental Sustainability Commission. 

Staff recommends the Council approve the second reading and adoption of the 
Ordinance amending Section 2.85.010 of the LMMC. 

4 



ORDINANCE NO. 2021-

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA MESA 
AMENDING SECTION 2.85.010 OF THE LA MESA MUNICIPAL CODE TO ADD 
A SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER REPRESENTATIVE AS A NON-VOTING 
MEMBER OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY COMMISSION 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LA MESA DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Section 2.85.010 of the La Mesa Municipal Code is hereby amended to 
read as follows: 

'There is hereby created the Environmental Sustainability Commission (Commission) of 
the City of La Mesa. The Commission shall consist of thirteen members. Seven members shall 
be residents of the City of La Mesa with voting privileges and six members shall be advisory 
members from the business community without voting privileges. The seven members that are 
residents of the City of La Mesa shall be comprised as follows: two members from the general 
populous; three members with professional experience related to environmental sustainability; 
one member representing the senior adult population (at the time of appointment shall be not 
less than fifty-five years of age); and one member representing the youth population (at the time 
of appointment or reappointment shall be not more than twenty-one years of age). Each of the 
seven members shall be entitled to one vote on matters before the_ Commission. The six 
members from the business community shall be representatives from the City's water utility, 
franchise waste and recycling hauler, electricity and gas utility, San Diego Community Power, 
high school, and elementary/middle school district. These six members shall not be required to 
be residents of the City, but shall act as advisory members on the commission and shall not be 
entitled to vote." 

SECTION 2: This Ordinance shall be effective 30 days after its adoption and the City 
Clerk shall certify to the adoption of this Ordinance and cause the same to be published at least 
once in the Daily Transcript within 15 days of its adoption. 

ATTACHMENT A 



INTRODUCED AND FIRST READ at a Regular meeting of the City Council of the City of 
La Mesa, California, held the 9th day of March 2021, and thereafter PASSED AND ADOPTED 
at a Regular meeting of said City Council held the 23rd day of March 2021, by the following 
vote, to wit: 

AYES: 

NOES: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED: 

MARK ARAPOSTATHIS, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

MEGAN WIEGELMAN, CMC, City Clerk 

CERTIFICATE OF CITY CLERK 

I, MEGAN WIEGELMAN, City Clerk of the City of La Mesa, California, do hereby certify 
the foregoing to be a true and correct copy of Ordinance No. 2021- duly passed and 
adopted by the City Council of said City on the date and by the vote therein recited and that the 
same has been duly published according to law. 

MEGAN WIEGELMAN, CMC, City Clerk 

(SEAL OF CITY) 



 

 
      815 E Street, Suite 12716 
      San Diego, CA 92112 
      sdcommunitypower.org 

 
 

April 22, 2021 
 
City of La Mesa 
Mayor and City Council 
8130 Allison Avenue 
La Mesa, CA 91942 
 
RE: SDCP Representative and Alternate to the Environmental Sustainability 
Commission 
 
Dear Mayor and City Council,  
 
On behalf of the San Diego Community Power (SDCP) Board of Directors, Sebastian 
Sarria, Policy and Program Manager, and Nelson Lomeli, Program Manager, have been 
appointed to the La Mesa Environmental Sustainability Commission as SDCP’s primary 
and alternate representatives, respectively. We appreciate the inclusion of SDCP in this 
important group to your local environmental affairs. 
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
 
Bill Carnahan 
Interim CEO 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 
SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 

Staff Report – Item 4 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO 
 
Subject:  Operations and Administration Report from the Interim Chief Executive 

Officer 
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Receive and file update on various operational and administration activities. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Staff will provide regular updates to the Board of Directors regarding San Diego 
Community Power’s (SDCP) organizational development, administration, start-up and 
operating activities. The following is a brief overview of this month’s discussion items, 
which are informational only. 
 
ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
A) General Administrative Updates 

San Diego County – As reported in the media, the San Diego County Board of 
Supervisors took a step toward having unincorporated areas of the county to join 
one of the two community choice aggregation programs in the region, one being 
San Diego Community Power.  The Supervisors adopted a set of six principles that 
would make up any Joint Powers Authority the county would sign with a 
prospective CCA. The SDCP Interim CEO and COO cosigned a letter stating that 
SDCP “is looking forward to talking to the county.  The proposed Guiding Principles 
largely mirror SDCP’s own principles.”  
 
A few days after the Supervisor’s actions, the SDCP Interim CEO received a call 
from Charles Marchesano, Chief, Energy and Sustainability Program, Department 
of General Services, indicating we will be receiving a formal notice of the County’s 
intent to act as a starting point for discussions.  As of the writing of this report, the 
letter has not been received, but is expected any day. 
 
Since we do not have the formal request in time for the agenda deadline, we expect 
no action item but have a discussion from staff regarding our preliminary efforts 
such as data gathering to determine the impacts of adding the County as a member 
to be reported back at the May SDCP Board meeting.  
 



 

● Strategic Planning – We have been discussing for some time now about the need 
to hold our first strategic planning effort in conjunction with the budget preparation. 
Staff has been discussing qualifications and proposals for a firm to facilitate this 
process, including interviews with the Board, staff and Community Advisory Board 
members as well as conducting what is anticipated to be a day-long strategic 
planning meeting. 
 
At this writing, the analysis is not complete so no recommendation is ready.  Staff 
expects to have the decision made by the time of Board meeting and since the 
amount of the contract is below the Interim CEO’s approval authority the chosen 
firm will be announced at the Board meeting. 
 
The strategic planning effort is also important as it relates to policies and 
procedures regarding requests from potential new members asking to join. 
 

B) Staffing 
The most recent staff addition is Eric Washington who will be taking on the role of 
Chief Financial Officer in the next few weeks. He has lived in the San Diego area 
for many years. Along with 15 years of service in the Navy, Eric’s career has been 
in the banking business in the San Diego area for over 25 years. He has earned a 
Bachelor’s Degree management from  Southern Illinois University, a Masters 
Degree in Business Administration from Webster University and a Doctorate in 
Educational Leadership from San Diego State University. 
 
We have been very pleased with the staff we have hired so far and expect to 
continue that trend in the future. We are either advertising currently or will be 
advertising soon for:  
 

● Resources Group – Power Services Portfolio Manager 
● Finance Group – Finance Manager  
● External Affairs Group – Director of External Affairs 

 
C) Power Resources  

Renewable Energy:  
Negotiations for short-listed contracts selected through SDCP’s long-term 
renewables portfolio standard solicitation are nearing completion. Three long-term 
contracts were reviewed with FRMC last week. One of them is presented for your 
Board’s approval as Agenda Item #9 during this meeting. The other two will be 
presented in May, potentially followed by another long-term contract or two to 
round out negotiation of contracts that originated in last year’s Long-term RPS 
RFO. 
 
Staff continue to negotiate an EEI Master Agreement with and purchase of 
renewable energy from SDG&E pursuant to bilateral discussions and consistent 
with previous direction from the Board. 



 

Staff completed solicitations for short-term renewable, carbon-free energy to meet 
a portion of SDCP’s near-term energy needs while the new-build facilities its 
currently negotiating with are under development. Contracting pursuant to that 
solicitation is underway. 
 
Resource Adequacy: 
As previously discussed, SDCP filed a request with the CPUC seeking a waiver of 
penalties for year-ahead Local RA obligations that SDCP was not able to fulfill. 
The CPUC granted SDCP’s Waiver request on Dec 30, 2020.  
 
Staff completed a solicitation for short-term resource adequacy to meet a portion 
of SDCP’s “balance of 2021” capacity needs. Contracting pursuant to that 
solicitation is underway, and SDCP continues procurement efforts as necessary to 
close short positions. SDCP’s ability to comply with RA requirements is subject to 
availability constraints in the San Diego area market. 
 
Risk Management: 
Consistent with its Energy Risk Management Policy, SDCP has contracted for a 
significant majority of its market energy needs for 2021 and has started layering in 
some purchases for 2022-2024. 

 
D) Back Office Operations 

As our back-office data manager, Calpine has worked collaboratively with SDG&E 
to ensure a successful implementation of Envision, their new Customer Information 
System (CIS), earlier this month. To assist us with our Phase 2 customer outreach 
efforts Calpine has also deployed an online bill comparison tool for our most 
prominent commercial and industrial rates. This tool is currently available for 
customers to use on our website via: 

     https://sdcommunitypower.org/your-choice/compare-service-plans/ 
      

There will also be a bill comparison tool developed and supported by Calpine 
ahead of our residential phase in 2022. From an operational perspective, SDCP 
staff and Calpine have worked together to create a reporting dashboard of 
customer actions to opt-out or opt-up to Power100. The below charts summarize 
these actions accordingly: 

  

https://sdcommunitypower.org/your-choice/compare-service-plans/


 

 
Opt Outs 

 

 
 
Opt Ups to Power100 

 



 

 
 

     
  

FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS 

A. San Diego County Letter Request for CCE Information 
B. Minutes Re: San Diego County Updating CCE Energy Guiding Principles 
C. SDCP Organizational Chart 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

 ENERGY & SUSTAINABILITY  •  ASSET MANAGEMENT  •  FLEET   PROJECT MANAGEMENT  •  FACILITIES OPERATIONS  

MARKO MEDVED, PE, CEM 
DIRECTOR 

(858) 694-2527 

DEPARTMENT OF GENERAL SERVICES  
5560 OVERLAND AVENUE, SUITE 410,  SAN DIEGO,  CA 92123 

NICOLE J. ALEJANDRE 
ASSISTANT DIRECTOR 

(858) 694-3885 

April 18, 2021 

Bill Carnahan 
Interim CEO 
San Diego Community Power 

RE: Request for CCE Information 

Mr. Carnahan, 

On April 6, 2021, the County Board of Supervisors approved a new set of CCE Guiding Principles 
and directed County staff to begin discussions with the two recently formed local CCEs (San 
Diego Community Power and Clean Energy Alliance) about a possible partnership.  To 
commence discussions with San Diego Community Power, we are writing to formally request 
information relevant to our Board of Supervisors’ consideration of how to best effectuate its CCE 
Guiding Principles.   

County staff intends to return to the Board of Supervisors this summer with an analysis of options 
for joining one of the existing local CCEs in accordance with the Guiding Principles.  This would 
allow our Board the opportunity to decide whether the County should join one of the CCEs in 
2021, with a launch of unincorporated accounts in 2023. To facilitate this decision, the County 
requests the following information.   

Please provide information detailing how your Joint Powers Agreement, Board-approved policies, 
and any other relevant official documents and Board actions support the following County Guiding 
Principles: 

Guiding Principles 
1. Prioritize social equity and environmental stewardship.

2. Provide cost competitiveness compared to the incumbent utility.



3. Achieve 100% renewable electricity by 2030; encourage within-County buildout of
renewable energy, battery storage, and energy efficiency programs; and prioritize
Category 1 renewable energy.

4. Support requirements for prevailing wages, as defined in California Labor Code section
1770 et seq., and skilled and trained workforce, as defined in California Public Contract
Code section 2601, for CCE-owned generation, feed-in-tariff, and energy efficiency
projects.

5. Encourage the development of an equitable jobs pipeline for individuals from communities
of concern; the use of a bid evaluation policy prioritizing the selection of new local
renewable energy and storage projects; and the workforce development criteria
prioritizing the use of State-certified apprenticeship and proper assignment of work to
crafts that traditionally perform the work, as permitted by applicable law.

6. Limit General Fund Liability.

In addition, we have the following specific questions: 

1. What are your anticipated rate discounts versus SDGE?
2. What is the anticipated “membership fee”, if any, that would be required under Section

2.4.3 of the Joint Powers Agreement? Are there any other payment requirements to
join?

3. Aside from any payments required in connection with joining the JPA, are there any
current or anticipated payment obligations of JPA Members?

4. What liabilities would the County be expected to incur by joining the JPA?
5. Will you offer the same rate for all members or is there going to be a “newcomers” rate?
6. Please explain the process and any deadlines for the County to join in 2021?
7. If the County were to join in 2021, how do you anticipate the rollout going in 2023?  All

at once or in phases?
8. What functions would County staff be expected to perform after joining the JPA?
9. Please provide your most recent proforma budget.

If possible, please respond with the requested information prior to June 1, 2021.  All responses 
should be emailed to Charles.marchesano@sdcounty.ca.gov.  Please also feel free to contact me 
at (858) 699-3502. 

Sincerely, 

Charley Marchesano 
Chief, Energy and Sustainability Program 
Department of General Services 
County of San Diego 
(858) 694-2987 office (858) 699-3502 cell

mailto:Charles.marchesano@sdcounty.ca.gov


APRIL 06, 2021 1 

 COUNTY OF SAN DIEGO 
 BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
 TUESDAY, APRIL 06, 2021 
 
 MINUTE ORDER NO. 20 
 
SUBJECT: UPDATING COMMUNITY CHOICE ENERGY GUIDING PRINCIPLES  
 (DISTRICTS: ALL) 
 
OVERVIEW 
Community Choice Energy (CCE) is an energy supply program that allows cities and counties to meet 
local energy needs by aggregating the buying power of individual customers within a defined area to 
secure alternative energy supplies. The pooling of purchasing power to buy or generate electricity gives 
ratepayers the choice of where to purchase their power. Choice and competition are the bedrock of 
CCE. Today, there are twenty-three CCEs operating throughout the State, serving more than ten million 
customers, including two  CCEs in San Diego County. 
 
In 2019, the Board of Supervisors adopted an ordinance stating our intent to join a CCE. The Board also  
adopted five Guiding Principles setting County terms to establish a County CCE or to join others in 
forming a Joint Powers Authority (JPA). However, these Guiding Principles are not reflective of the 
ideals of the current  board. The Guiding Principles that lead this program should align with our 
commitment to renewable energy,  good-paying jobs, and environmental and social justice. As such, we 
are proposing the adoption of the  following Revised Guiding Principles.  
 
Revised Guiding Principles 
1. Prioritize social equity and environmental stewardship. 
 
2. Provide cost competitiveness compared to the incumbent utility.  
 
3. Achieve 100% renewable electricity by 2030; encourage within-County buildout of renewable  
  energy, battery storage, and energy efficiency programs; and prioritize Category 1 renewable  
  energy. 
 
4. Support requirements for prevailing wages, as defined in California Labor Code section 1770 et  
  seq., and skilled and trained workforce, as defined in California Public Contract Code section 2601,  
  for CCE-owned generation, feed-in-tariff, and energy efficiency projects.  
 
5. Encourage the development of an equitable jobs pipeline for individuals from communities of  
  concern; the use of a bid evaluation policy prioritizing the selection of new local renewable energy  
  and storage projects; and the workforce development criteria prioritizing the use of State-certified  
  apprenticeship and proper assignment of work to crafts that traditionally perform the work, as  
  permitted by applicable law. 
 
6. Limit General Fund Liability. 
 
Today’s action revokes the previously adopted County Governance Guiding Principles, replaces them 
with the Revised Guiding Principles, and directs staff to discuss the County’s potential participation 
with a local existing CCE Joint Powers Authority (JPA) and return to the Board with options for such 
participation based on the Revised Guiding Principles.  
 



APRIL 06, 2021 2 

RECOMMENDATION(S) 
CHAIR NATHAN FLETCHER AND SUPERVISOR TERRA LAWSON-REMER 
1. Revoke the previously adopted set of County Governance Guiding Principles and adopt the Revised  
 Guiding Principles.  
 
2. Direct the Chief Administrative Officer to engage in discussions with the San Diego Community  
  Power and the Clean Energy Alliance CCE JPAs and return to the Board with options for potential  
  County participation in those CCE JPAs consistent with the Revised Guiding Principles by August  
  2021.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
There is no fiscal impact associated with today’s recommendations. Prior funding was allocated to the  
Department of General Services to support the development of the Feasibility Analysis and to support  
negotiations with Community Choice Energy providers. 
 
BUSINESS IMPACT 
N/A 
 
ACTION: 
ON MOTION of Supervisor Fletcher, seconded by Supervisor Lawson Remer, the  Board of Supervisors 
took action as recommended, revising Guiding Principle 2 to read: “Provide cost competitiveness and 
reliability compared to the incumbent utility.” 
 
AYES: Vargas, Anderson, Lawson-Remer, Fletcher 
NOES: Desmond 
 
State of California) 
County of San Diego) § 
 
I hereby certify that the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Original entered in  the Minutes 
of the Board of Supervisors. 
 
ANDREW POTTER 
Clerk of the Board of Supervisors 

   
Signed    
 by Andrew Potter 



Board of Directors

Bill Carnahan
Interim Chief Executive Officer

Cody Hooven
Chief Operating Officer

Byron Vosburg
Director of Power Services

TBD
General Counsel

Kimberly Isley 
Executive Assistant

Committees

TBD
Power Services 

Portfolio Manager

TBD
Energy Analyst

TBD
Finance Manager

TBD
Office Manager/Admin 

Assistant

Lee Friedman
Key Accounts 

Manager

TBD
Social/Marketing 
Media Manager

Lucas Utouh
Director of Data 
Analytics and 

Account Services

Sebastian Sarria
Program & Policy 

Manager

TBD
Compliance Analyst

Laura Fernandez
Director of Regulatory 
& Legislative Affairs

TBD
IT/Systems

TBD
Human Resources

TBD
Public Outreach 

Specialist

TBD
Customer Care 
Representative

TBD
Data Analyst

Maher Accountancy 
- Mike Maher

TBD
Director of Programs

TBD
Marketing & Comms 

Staff

TBD
Director of External 

Affairs

Tosdal
Keyes & Fox
NewGen

Pacific Energy 
Advisors

Calpine
Subs: 
Sea Change
ILG

BB&K
Ryan Baron/Nick Norvell

HR - Encinitas
Tom Bokosky
Lisa Roner

Civilian
Subs:
ThreesixtySD
Byrne Consulting

Megan Wiegelman
Board Clerk

Staff
Consultants
Next hireIT - SD

Darren Bennett

Nelson Lomeli
Program Manager

Eric Washington
Chief Financial 

Officer/Treasurer



 

 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 5 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Laura Fernandez, Director of Regulatory and Legislative Affairs  
 
Subject:  Update on Regulatory and Legislative Affairs  
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Receive and file update on regulatory and legislative affairs.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The California Public Utilities Commission (CPUC) has broad regulatory authority over 
the energy sector in California, including partial jurisdiction over Community Choice 
Aggregation (CCA) programs. San Diego Community Power (SDCP) and other CCA 
programs are regularly affected by CPUC decisions regarding power resources, rates, 
financial obligations and data retention among other things. SDCP continues to engage 
in regulatory matters in order to establish a position on key issues and/or provide input 
on various decisions or actions being considered by the CPUC. SDCP is also 
coordinating legislative engagement through the California Community Choice 
Association (CalCCA). With CalCCA’s assistance, SDCP is monitoring 40 bills that are 
currently moving through the legislative process in Sacramento. These bills touch on a 
variety of topics from the Power Charge Indifference Adjustment (PCIA), to Net Energy 
Metering (NEM), Microgrids, etc.  
 
Staff will provide regular updates to the Board of Directors regarding SDCP’s regulatory 
and legislative engagement. The following is an overview of this month’s discussion 
items, which are informational only. 
 

A) Proposed Decision Issued in PCIA Proceeding  
 

The PCIA is a surcharge on all customers that is intended to collect the above-market 
costs of the investor-owned utilities’ (IOU) legacy resources. The PCIA is intended to 
reflect the difference between the IOUs’ above-market costs related to legacy power 
supply commitments, including third-party energy contracts and operating costs for 
utility owned generation, and today’s market value for those resources. While CCA and 
direct access customers continue to pay a significant share of the costs for these 
resources, their ability to access the benefits depends on the willingness of the IOU – at 
its sole discretion – to sell or allocate the resource. 



 

 
The inequity surrounding access to the benefits of the legacy resources has been long 
recognized by regulators and stakeholders. The CPUC first initiated a proceeding to 
resolve this issue in 2017 and identified optimization of IOU portfolio management to 
minimize stranded costs as one of the issues to be addressed. The CPUC directed 
CalCCA, Southern California Edison, and Commercial Energy (the “co-chairs” of what 
was called Working Group 3) to develop a joint proposal that represented their 
respective groups. The joint proposal was presented to the CPUC in February 2020 and 
was not given any procedural consideration for over one year.  
 
On April 5, 2021, the CPUC issued the long-awaited Phase 2 Proposed Decision (PD) 
on the PCIA Cap and Portfolio Optimization track after more than one year since the 
Working Group 3 (WG3) co-chairs filed the joint proposal. The PD purports to resolve 
the issues from the WG3 (Portfolio Optimization) proposal that was submitted to the 
CPUC in February of 2020. The PD:  
 

• Adopts voluntary allocation market offer (VAMO) of Renewable 
Portfolio Standard (RPS) allocations for 2023 implementation; 

• Declines to adopt the WG3 proposal for Resource Adequacy (RA);  
• Declines to approve the WG3 proposal on greenhouse-gas (GHG)-free 

resources. 
 
According to the PD, only IOU customers have the right to access the resources in the 
PCIA portfolio, even though CCA and direct access customers are paying for those 
resources and the resources are no longer needed to serve IOU customers (i.e., excess 
resources). The PD states: “Our approach to PCIA solutions enable[s] alternative 
providers to manage their own portfolios, rather than creating rights of alternative 
providers to resources in the utilities’ PCIA portfolios.” 
 
Opening Comments on the PD are due April 26, 2021. Reply comments are due May 3.  
SDCP is coordinating comments on the PD through CalCCA. The gist of the comments 
will be that the PD falls short of establishing ratepayer equity. The PD will be heard at 
the earliest, at the CPUC’s May 6, 2021 Business Meeting.  
 

B) SB 612 (Ratepayer Equity Act) -- Will Be Heard in Committee April 26  
 

As discussed during the last SDCP Board meeting, while all customers bear cost 
responsibility for legacy resources, only IOU customers have the right to access the 
benefits of these resources, such as renewable energy, GHG-free energy, and RA. SB 
612 would resolve this inequity by enshrining equal access to benefits into statute. 
Given that the PD discussed above rejects the majority of the WG3 joint proposal and 
falls short of creating ratepayer equity, legislative action is the only way to ensure fair 
and equitable outcomes for all ratepayers, not just IOU bundled customers. SB 612 
ensures fair and equal access to the benefits of legacy contracts resources for all 
customers and ensures that IOU portfolios are managed to maximize value and reduce 
unnecessary costs for all customers. Specifically, SB 612: 

https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M335/K710/335710541.PDF
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M376/K054/376054718.PDF
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB612
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220SB612


 

 
1) Provides customers equal access to the legacy products they are paying for in 
proportion to what they are paying. 
2) Requires the CPUC to recognize the value of GHG-free energy in the same 
way renewable energy or RA products are recognized.  
3) Requires IOUs to annually sell any remaining excess legacy resource 
products not taken by former customers to the wholesale market. 

 
SB 612 was amended earlier this month to remove the provision that would have 
required the IOUs to transparently solicit interest from legacy resource contract holders 
in re-negotiating, buying out, or otherwise reducing costs from these contracts. 
 
CalCCA is sponsoring the bill and seeking support from all CCAs and their member 
agencies. Last month, SDCP voted to take a support position for SB 612, The cities of 
La Mesa, Encinitas, Chula Vista and Imperial Beach have also submitted support letters 
for SB 612.  
 
The PCIA represents approximately 37% of operating costs (before financing) for fiscal 
year 2021, 42% of operating costs for fiscal year 2022, and 44% of operating costs for 
fiscal year 2023. SB 612 would reduce overall costs by ensuring that SDCP is able to 
access legacy resources that are currently being paid for through the PCIA. 

More information can be found here: https://cal-cca.org/sb-612/. 
 
SDCP needs additional support to ensure that SB 612 will have enough support votes 
to make it out of the Senate Energy, Utilities and Communications Committee. The bill 
will be heard on April 26, 2021. Letters of support should be submitted here: 
https://calegislation.lc.ca.gov/Advocates/ by April 21, 2021 at noon. Additionally, 
advocates can call in in support of the bill utilizing the information provided here: 
https://seuc.senate.ca.gov/ .  
 
Senator Ben Hueso, who represents the cities of Imperial Beach, Chula Vista and 
portions of San Diego, is the Chair of the Senate Energy, Utilities and Communications 
Committee. SDCP urges supporters to contact Senator Hueso to ask him to vote in 
favor of SB 612.  
 

C) Energy Agency Actions and Processes Regarding Summer Reliability  
 

On January 13, 2021, the California Independent System Operator (CAISO), the CPUC, 
and the California Energy Commission (CEC) (collectively, the “Joint Agencies”) issued 
the Final Root Cause Analysis (“Final Analysis”) of the Mid-August 2020 Extreme Heat 
Wave. The Final Analysis is a follow-up to the Preliminary Report that was issued on 
October 6, 2020 and generally confirms the findings of the Preliminary Report that three 
major factors contributed to the rotating power outages that occurred in the CAISO 
territory on August 14 and 15, 2020. Those factors were: (1) extreme weather 
conditions; (2) RA and planning processes; and (3) market practices.  
 

https://calegislation.lc.ca.gov/Advocates/
https://seuc.senate.ca.gov/
https://sd40.senate.ca.gov/
http://www.caiso.com/Documents/Final-Root-Cause-Analysis-Mid-August-2020-Extreme-Heat-Wave.pdf


 

According to the Final Analysis, certain energy market practices “contributed to the 
inability to obtain or prioritize energy to serve CAISO load in the day-ahead market that 
could otherwise have relieved the strained conditions.” Those practices included “under-
scheduling of demand in the day-ahead market by load serving entities or their 
scheduling coordinators and convergence bidding.” Additionally, the Final Analysis 
reports that a CAISO market enhancement inadvertently caused issues.  
 
In addition to reporting the root causes of the outages, the Final Analysis detailed the 
actions that each of the Joint Agencies have taken in response in order to prepare for 
Summer 2021 so as to avoid the need for rotating outages. Those actions include:  
 

1. The CPUC Emergency Reliability rulemaking (R.20-11-003) to procure additional 
resources to meet California’s electricity demand in summer 2021.  

a. Two decisions have been issued in this rulemaking (D.21-02-028 and 
D.21-03-056).  

2. CAISO analysis to support an increase to the CPUC’s RA program procurement 
targets. Based on this analysis, the CAISO recommended that the targets apply 
to both the gross peak and the critical hour of the net demand peak during the 
months of June through October 2021.  

3. The CAISO expedited a stakeholder process, entitled Market Enhancements for 
Summer 2021 Readiness, to consider market rule and practice changes by June 
2021 that will ensure the CAISO’s market mechanisms accurately reflect the 
actual balance of supply and demand during stressed operating conditions.  

a. CalCCA has been following this initiative as it attempts to address market 
design issues that exacerbated the outages in the summer of 2020.  Chief 
among the issues is the prioritization of imports compared to wheeling 
transactions (the use of the CAISO transmission system to transmit power 
from a source and sink both outside of the CAISO control area).  In 2020, 
the wheels were given a higher priority under certain circumstances and this 
may have impacted the ability to import power as well as use in-state 
transmission to meet California’s own reliability needs.  The CAISO is 
changing this to place imports and wheels on a more equal footing.  CalCCA 
has been supportive of this change, but believes that even more should be 
done. CalCCA is engaging in other CAISO initiatives to seek further 
improvements to CAISO processes (see additional information below). 
Comments are complete in the Summer 2021 Readiness process, and 
there is a tariff filing pending.  

4. The CPUC is tracking progress on generation and battery storage projects that 
are currently under construction in California to ensure there are no CPUC-
related regulatory barriers that would prevent them from being completed by their 
targeted online dates.  

5. The CAISO and CEC indicated they would coordinate with non-CPUC 
jurisdictional entities to encourage additional necessary procurement by such 
entities.  

https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56:0::NO:RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2011003
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M366/K441/366441341.PDF
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M373/K745/373745051.PDF
https://stakeholdercenter.caiso.com/StakeholderInitiatives/Market-enhancements-for-summer-2021-readiness
https://stakeholdercenter.caiso.com/StakeholderInitiatives/Market-enhancements-for-summer-2021-readiness


 

6. The CEC is conducting probabilistic studies that evaluate the loss of load 
expectation on the California System to determine the amount of capacity that 
needs to be installed to meet the desired service reliability targets. 

 
In addition to the Market Enhancements for Summer 2021 Readiness initiative, CalCCA 
is either involved in, or will become involved in the following CAISO stakeholder 
processes:  

• Maximum Import Capability Enhancements 
• Hybrid Resources 
• Energy Storage Enhancements 
• Resource Adequacy Enhancements 
• Extended Day Ahead Market, Day Ahead Market Enhancements, and Governance 

Review Committee of the Energy Imbalance Market (EIM) 

SDCP will continue to coordinate through CalCCA on these initiatives.  

D) Critical Peak Pricing (CPP)  

CPP is a program whereby a utility or load serving entity (LSE) charges a higher price for 
consumption of electricity during peak hours on selected days, referred to as critical peak 
days or event days. Currently the three large electric IOUs all have active CPP programs, 
although the design elements for each individual large electric IOU differ. The most recent 
decision (D.21-03-056) in the CPUC Emergency Reliability rulemaking adopted 
modifications and expansions to the CPP program, to be in place for the summer of 2021. 
However, since SDG&E is upgrading and stabilizing its billing system in 2021, it is not 
able or required to modify its CPP program until 2022.  

D.21-03-056 directed the three large electric IOUs to host a workshop on non-IOU CPP 
programs by April 7, 2021, to facilitate a peer knowledge exchange on the topic for 
summer 2021 and to identify barriers and solutions to non-IOU LSE program expansion 
looking ahead to summer 2022. CPUC President Marybel Batjer indicated that the 
purpose of the workshop was to examine opportunities for CCAs to contribute to load 
shed in summer 2021 and beyond. CPUC staff has specifically requested that CCAs 
adopt CPP programs to be in effect for summer 2021 as well as take other steps to 
address energy usage, including: 

(1) encourage customers to take part in IOU load shedding programs; and  
(2) articulate to the CPUC their strategies for decreasing energy demand in 
summer 2021.  

During the workshop, the following Program Year 2020 Ex-Post Load Impact for a Typical 
Event Day was shared presented:  

 

https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M373/K745/373745051.PDF


 

 

 
SDCP has met with CPUC staff and SDG&E staff multiple times in order to explore 
potentially developing an SDCP CPP program. SDCP has learned that although 
SDG&E would be able to provide some information that is necessary to establish a CPP 
program (capacity reservation information and event notification form information), 
SDG&E is unable to provide meter interval data in a timely manner. SDG&E currently 
provides SDCP with interval data on a monthly basis. This means that SDCP would not 
be able to observe or report on customer performance during an event day until weeks 
after the event occurs. SDG&E has confirmed it will not be able to provide more 
frequent interval data in 2021 due to its billing system upgrade and freeze.  
 
SDCP has determined that it does not possess and would not be able to obtain 
sufficient data to establish an impactful CPP program. Without more frequent meter 
interval data, SDCP would not be able to forecast or plan sufficiently, nor track the 
effectiveness of the effort. SDCP has requested interval data in a more timely manner, 
which would enable SDCP to potentially establish a number of demand response 
programs in the future. SDCP also notes that with just 5.5 megawatt (MW) of load 
impact on a typical event day for CPP in SDG&E service area, there may be other more 
impactful and more cost-effective programs that could be established beyond CPP.  
 
SDCP has a vested interest in contributing to overall system reliability, and is currently 
exploring other options for decreasing energy demand during peak hours. For example, 
SDCP intends to leverage its social media platforms and website in order to promote 
energy saving tips as well as Flex Alerts.  
 

E) Net Energy Metering (NEM) 

The NEM program is designed to support the installation of customer-sited renewable 
generation. It was originally established in California with the adoption of Senate Bill (SB) 
656 (Alquist, Stats. 1995, ch. 369), codified in Section 2827 of the Public Utilities Code. 
Importantly, Public Utilities Code Section 2827.1 only applies to large electrical 
corporations, and thereby excludes CCAs such as SDCP. This is because CCAs are 
legally entitled to set their own electricity generation rates. CCAs therefore determine their 
own rate policies, including NEM policies.  



 

Under the original NEM program, customers who install and operate small (1MW or less) 
renewable generation facilities (referred to as “customer-generators”) may participate. 
Previously, under the original NEM rate, customer-generators received a full retail rate 
bill credit for power generated by their onsite systems that was fed back into the power 
grid during times when generation exceeded onsite energy demand. These credits were 
used to offset customers’ electricity bills, and could be rolled over to subsequent bills for 
up to a year. 

AB 327 (Perea, 2013) directed each large IOU to switch over to the current NEM tariff 
on July 1, 2017 or after their NEM capacity exceeded 5% aggregated customer peak 
demand, whichever came first. SDG&E transferred to the current NEM tariff on June 29, 
2016. Customer-generators that interconnected their systems to the grid prior to this 
date were grandfathered into the former NEM rate, pursuant to Decision (D.)14-03-
041.  These customer-generators are allowed to remain on the former rate for 20 years 
from the date they interconnected, or they are permitted to switch to the current NEM 
rate.  The former NEM rate is sometimes referred to as "NEM 1.0", and the current NEM 
rate as "NEM 2.0" or "NEM Successor Tariff."  
 
The current NEM program was adopted by the CPUC in D.16-01-044 on January 28, 
2016 and is available to customers of the large IOUs. The program provides customer-
generators full retail rate credits for energy exported to the grid and requires them to 
pay a few charges that align NEM customer costs more closely with non-NEM customer 
costs.  Any customer-generator applying for NEM will: 

• Pay a one-time interconnection fee: Customer-generators with facilities under 1 
MW must pay a pre-approved one-time interconnection fee based on each IOU's 
historic interconnection costs.  SDG&E's is $132.   

• Pay non-bypassable charges: Customer-generators, similar to other utility 
customers, will pay small charges on each kilowatt-hour (kWh) of electricity they 
consume from the grid.  These charges fund important programs such as low-
income and energy efficiency programs. 

• Transfer to a time-of-use (TOU) rate.  If a customer-generator is not already on 
one, they will be required to take service on a time-of-use (TOU) rate to 
participate in NEM. 

 
D.16-01-044 also established the CPUC’s commitment to review the NEM 2.0 tariff in 
2019 (or later) citing interactive, yet unresolved, policy movements within the CPUC, but 
outside the scope of that proceeding. On September 3, 2020 the CPUC initiated a new 
rulemaking (R.) 20-08-020 in order to address the development of a successor to the 
existing NEM 2.0 tariffs. This proceeding is known as the NEM 3.0 proceeding.  
 
SDCP is a party to the NEM 3.0 rulemaking and filed comments on a proposed decision 
earlier this year along with other CCA parties in the proceeding.  
 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140AB327
http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M089/K386/89386131.PDF
http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M089/K386/89386131.PDF
http://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Published/G000/M158/K181/158181678.pdf
https://apps.cpuc.ca.gov/apex/f?p=401:56:0::NO:RP,57,RIR:P5_PROCEEDING_SELECT:R2008020
https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M361/K579/361579142.PDF


 

On March 15, 2021, eighteen proposals for a successor to the current NEM tariff were 
filed by a wide range of parties in the proceeding, including the Joint IOUs, Sierra Club, 
The Utility Reform Network, Natural Resources Defense Council, Solar Energy 
Industries Association, Vote Solar, Small Business Utility Advocates, Coalition for 
Community Solar Access, Protect Our Communities Foundation, GRID Alternatives, 
among others. An SDCP representative monitored a workshop on these proposals that 
was held on March 23 and 24.  
 
Following these workshops, the Assigned Administrative Law (ALJ) Judge issued a 
ruling that noted that “it is clear the proposals are not complete to allow for a cost-
effectiveness analysis. In order to ensure transparency of the cost-effectiveness 
analysis by the Commission, additional information is needed. Accordingly, a virtual 
workshop will be held on Thursday, April 22, 2021 beginning at 1:00 pm, to further 
discuss the proposals and determine what inputs are needed to accurately perform the 
analysis.” This ruling also delayed the proceeding schedule in order to “provide parties 
the results of the Commission’s cost-effectiveness analysis prior to the service of 
opening testimony.” The following is the revised schedule for the NEM 3.0 proceeding:  
 

 
 
SDCP is currently coordinating with the other CCA programs in the proceeding (Marin 
Clean Energy, Sonoma Clean Power, East Bay Community Energy, Peninsula Clean 
Energy, Clean Power Alliance and Silicon Valley Clean Energy) to determine next steps 
for engagement in the proceeding. SDCP staff is currently reviewing and evaluating the 
various proposals in the proceeding.  
 

F) Assembly Bill 1139 (Gonzalez) - Solar Equity and Ratepayer Relief Act 
(Reform NEM) 

 
Assemblywoman Lorena Gonzalez (D-San Diego) is the author of AB 1139. If signed into 
law, this bill would impact the NEM 3.0 Rulemaking (R.20-08-020) that is concurrently 
ongoing at the CPUC and is described above. This bill would modify CPUC authority to 
set California Alternate Rates for Energy (CARE) discount rates from the existing average 
effective CARE discount of not less than 30% or more than 35% to not less than 40% or 

https://docs.cpuc.ca.gov/PublishedDocs/Efile/G000/M376/K696/376696489.PDF
https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=202120220AB1139


 

more than 45% of the revenues that would have been produced for the same billed usage 
by non-CARE customers. This significantly increases the CARE discount rate by 10-15% 
for electrical corporations of 100,000 or more customer accounts in California (such as 
SDG&E, SCE, and PG&E).  The most recent amendment to the bill adds language that 
would require 25% of CARE program costs be paid for exclusively by residential 
customers. This changes existing law that does prohibits the cost of CARE from being 
borne solely by any single class of customer. 
 
This bill would also strike existing NEM provisions and require all IOUs to submit, by 
advice letter, a standard NEM contract or tariff that would take effect beginning on July 
1, 2022, and apply to all customer self-generators and replace all prior standard 
contracts and tariffs (i.e., NEM 1.0 and NEM 2.0). While the CPUC has traditionally 
“grandfathered” customers participating in NEM, meaning they were allowed to remain 
on their original rate schedules, the bill would force existing NEM customers onto new 
rate schedules. The bill would require that the new NEM contract or tariff credit the 
customer self-generator for any electricity exported by the customer self-generator to 
the distribution system or transmission system at a rate equal to the hourly wholesale 
market rate applicable at the time of the export and the location of the customer self-
generator. The bill would also require that the customer self-generator would be 
charged for electricity imported from the distribution system or transmission system at a 
rate equal to the otherwise applicable tariff for customers in the same class of service 
who are not customer self-generators. 
 
Any customer self-generator that previously began service under a NEM contract or 
tariff prior to January 1, 2022, may continue to take service under that contract or tariff 
as follows: 
 

Original Date of 
Interconnection 

Sunset of Existing Tariff/Interconnection 
Agreement on: 

Prior to January 1, 2014 Then may continue to take service under 
that contract or tariff until July 1, 2022. 

After January 1, 2014 but 
prior to January 1, 2017 

Then may continue to take service under 
that contract or tariff until July 1, 2023. 

After January 1, 2017 but 
prior to January 1, 2022 

Then may continue to take service under 
that contract or tariff until July 1, 2024. 

 
 
Importantly, for customer self-generators taking energy supply service from a CCA, the 
bill would authorize the CCA to determine to provide credits and charges in different 
amounts (see proposed California Public Utilities Code § 2827 (b)(3) as drafted in the 
April 8, 2021 amended bill language). 
 



 

The bill would also require that a customer self-generator be charged a monthly grid 
access charge equal to the costs attributable to the customer’s gross electricity usage 
billed at the otherwise applicable rates for all elements of retail service except for 
generation, minus the amount the customer paid for nongeneration elements of retail 
service paid as part of the rate for imported electricity. 
 
Finally, the bill would expand access to renewable energy for CARE customers in three 
ways. The cost for these programs would be collected from ratepayers in the form of a 
new nonbypassable charge on the distribution side of the bill. Beginning July 1, 2022, 
this bill would require the CPUC to annually allocate up to the following amounts, 
divided proportionately among the electrical corporations based on the number of 
residential customers of each electrical corporation, for the following purposes:  
 

i. $300,000,000 for residential customer self-generators who both participate 
in the CARE program and live in multifamily housing or in underserved 
communities to discount the initial purchase cost for a renewable electrical 
generation facility; 

ii. $300,000,000 to eliminate any rate premium required and provide an 
additional 10% discount for residential customers who participate in the 
CARE program to participate in a 100% solar option under the Green 
Tariff Shared Renewables Program, and; 

iii. $500,000,000 for facilities serving public buildings to discount the initial 
purchase cost for the renewable electrical generation facility. 

 
The bill is expected to be heard in the Assembly Committee on Utilities and Energy on 
April 21, 2021. Additional amendments are expected if this bill moves through 
committee and each chamber. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
N/A 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
N/A 
 
 
  
 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 



 

 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 7 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Lucas Utouh, Director of Data Analytics and Account Services. 
                     John Dalessi, Pacific Energy Advisors, Inc. 
 
CC:  Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO 
 
Subject:  Approval of an Updated Rate Schedule to be Effective June 1, 2021 
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the updated rate schedule (Attachment A) to become effective June 1, 2021. 
 
BACKGROUND 
San Diego Community Power (SDCP) began serving its first phase of customers in 
March 2021. These customers formerly received bundled (generation and delivery) 
electric service from SDG&E under a wide variety of rate schedules. Since beginning 
receiving generation service from SDCP, these customers are charged SDCP’s rates 
for generation service and SDG&E’s rates for delivery services. SDG&E will include 
SDCP’s generation charges in the bills sent to these customers and collect and remit 
the funds to SDCP. 
 
Consistent with good utility practice, rates must produce the revenue needed to operate 
a viable enterprise. Fiscal Year 2022 was used as the proforma “test year” for rate 
setting purposes, meaning that the rates were designed to recover a revenue 
requirement consistent with estimated FY 2022 sales and expenditures. The proposed 
rates were designed to yield revenues sufficient to collect SDCP’s projected annual 
power supply and other operating costs, debt service costs, plus a planned reserve 
margin contribution, designed to begin accrual of reserves to provide a buffer against 
unplanned variances in revenues and/or operating costs. This 5% planned reserve 
margin contribution is at the low end of the recommended range, given the challenging 
competitive rate environment anticipated when SDCP commenced service in 2021. 
 
ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
The Board provided direction in March to adjust generation rates to target 1% 
generation discount with a planned reserve margin of at least 5%. In order to implement 
this update, staff and our consultant Pacific Energy Advisors, Inc. have analyzed 
SDG&E’s 2021 rate changes accordingly to determine associated SDCP rates prior to 



 

our enrollment phase in June. In our analysis, we observed an increase of SDG&E’s 
base generation rates by 14% on average between their February and March 2021 rate 
changes across all customer types. We also saw Power Charge Indifference 
Adjustment (PCIA, or above market costs) increase on average by 16.4% between 
SDG&E’s February and March 2021 rate changes for Vintage Year 2020 (correlating to 
the year the load departs SDG&E service). Notwithstanding volatility in SDG&E rate 
changes, our proposed June rates would provide a 1% discount with a planned reserve 
margin of at least 5% yield with projected revenues of $26.5 million for the remainder of 
FY 2021 and $318.3 million in FY 2022, using electric load forecasts reflective of the 
planned phased-in customer enrollment schedule. Operating costs were projected 
based on contracts SDCP has executed to date and the expected cost of procuring 
energy and other wholesale services needed to supply SDCP’s customers with a default 
resource mix of 50% renewable energy and an additional 5% greenhouse gas free 
power. 
The pro forma projections of annual SDCP revenues and expenses including adoption 
of the June rates are shown in Figure 1. 
 

 



 

The SDCP rates for the PowerOn product (i.e. base portfolio offering) are structured like 
SDG&E’s generation rates with most of the same rate schedules, time-of-use periods, 
and mix of energy and demand charges. This rate design approach is typical for CCA 
programs and has the advantages of ensuring comparability and compatibility with 
SDG&E’s billing process. 
 
For customers electing the Power100 100% renewable energy portfolio offering, an 
additional charge of 0.75 cents per kWh will apply. This premium is based on the 
estimated incremental cost to SDCP of offering a 100% renewable energy product 
relative to the default PowerOn product. The SDCP Power100 generation rate would be 
about 9% on average more than the PowerOn rate, and the impact to a customer’s total 
electric bill (including SDCP generation charges and SDG&E delivery charges) would 
be approximately 3%. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Adoption of the updated rates would yield projected revenues of $26.5 million during the 
current fiscal year ending June 30, 2021. 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: SDCP Rates Effective June 1, 2021 



SDCP Rate Name Season Charge Type Time of Use Period PowerOn Power100
DR Summer Generation Total 0.12833 0.13583
DR Winter Generation Total 0.04701 0.05451

DR-LI-MB Summer Generation Total 0.12833 0.13583
DR-LI-MB Winter Generation Total 0.04701 0.05451

E-LI-TOU Summer Generation Total 0.04743 0.05493
E-LI-TOU Winter Generation Total 0.02841 0.03591

E-LI-NR Summer Generation Total 0.05821 0.06571
E-LI-NR Winter Generation Total 0.03584 0.04334

DR-SES Summer Generation On-Peak 0.34851 0.35601
DR-SES Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08606 0.09356
DR-SES Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02548 0.03298
DR-SES Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04630 0.05380
DR-SES Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03685 0.04435
DR-SES Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02638 0.03388

EV-TOU Summer Generation On-Peak 0.34851 0.35601
EV-TOU Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08606 0.09356
EV-TOU Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02548 0.03298
EV-TOU Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04630 0.05380
EV-TOU Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03685 0.04435
EV-TOU Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02638 0.03388

EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation On-Peak 0.34851 0.35601
EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08606 0.09356
EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02548 0.03298
EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04630 0.05380
EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03685 0.04435
EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02638 0.03388

EV-TOU-5 Summer Generation On-Peak 0.34851 0.35601
EV-TOU-5 Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08606 0.09356
EV-TOU-5 Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02548 0.03298
EV-TOU-5 Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04630 0.05380
EV-TOU-5 Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03685 0.04435
EV-TOU-5 Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02638 0.03388

TOU-DR-1 Summer Generation On-Peak 0.31879 0.32629
TOU-DR-1 Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07664 0.08414
TOU-DR-1 Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02069 0.02819

SDCP Rates Effective 6/1/2021



TOU-DR-1 Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05872 0.06622
TOU-DR-1 Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04789 0.05539
TOU-DR-1 Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03586 0.04336

TOU-DR-2 Summer Generation On-Peak 0.31879 0.32629
TOU-DR-2 Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05543 0.06293
TOU-DR-2 Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05872 0.06622
TOU-DR-2 Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04258 0.05008

TOU-DR Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20217 0.20967
TOU-DR Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.14192 0.14942
TOU-DR Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.08226 0.08976
TOU-DR Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04570 0.05320
TOU-DR Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03632 0.04382
TOU-DR Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02592 0.03342

TOU-A-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20513 0.21263
TOU-A-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09700 0.10450
TOU-A-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05404 0.06154
TOU-A-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03872 0.04622

TOU-A-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20395 0.21145
TOU-A-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09635 0.10385
TOU-A-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05363 0.06113
TOU-A-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03845 0.04595

TOU-A-2-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.27463 0.28213
TOU-A-2-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08540 0.09290
TOU-A-2-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03195 0.03945
TOU-A-2-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05219 0.05969
TOU-A-2-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04266 0.05016
TOU-A-2-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03198 0.03948

TOU-A-2-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.27315 0.28065
TOU-A-2-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08484 0.09234
TOU-A-2-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03165 0.03915
TOU-A-2-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05181 0.05931
TOU-A-2-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04235 0.04985
TOU-A-2-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03178 0.03928

TOU-A-3-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20853 0.21603
TOU-A-3-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.11561 0.12311
TOU-A-3-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03161 0.03911
TOU-A-3-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05220 0.05970
TOU-A-3-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04267 0.05017
TOU-A-3-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03199 0.03949



TOU-A-3-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20737 0.21487
TOU-A-3-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.11489 0.12239
TOU-A-3-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03131 0.03881
TOU-A-3-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05182 0.05932
TOU-A-3-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04236 0.04986
TOU-A-3-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03179 0.03929

A-TC Summer Generation Total 0.04269 0.05019
A-TC Winter Generation Total 0.04269 0.05019

TOU-M Summer Generation On-Peak 0.27781 0.28531
TOU-M Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08613 0.09363
TOU-M Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03298 0.04048
TOU-M Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05239 0.05989
TOU-M Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04283 0.05033
TOU-M Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03214 0.03964

OL-TOU Summer Generation On-Peak 0.36845 0.37595
OL-TOU Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.11391 0.12141
OL-TOU Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04263 0.05013
OL-TOU Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06825 0.07575
OL-TOU Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05662 0.06412
OL-TOU Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04374 0.05124

AL-TOU-S Summer Demand On-Peak 12.35 12.35
AL-TOU-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.11622 0.12372
AL-TOU-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09129 0.09879
AL-TOU-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06189 0.06939
AL-TOU-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.09388 0.10138
AL-TOU-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07936 0.08686
AL-TOU-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06325 0.07075

AL-TOU-P Summer Demand On-Peak 12.29 12.29
AL-TOU-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.11550 0.12300
AL-TOU-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09070 0.09820
AL-TOU-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06156 0.06906
AL-TOU-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.09328 0.10078
AL-TOU-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07889 0.08639
AL-TOU-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06293 0.07043

AL-TOU-T Summer Demand On-Peak 11.76 11.76
AL-TOU-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10903 0.11653
AL-TOU-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08534 0.09284
AL-TOU-T Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05765 0.06515
AL-TOU-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.08788 0.09538
AL-TOU-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07420 0.08170
AL-TOU-T Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05898 0.06648



AL-TOU-2-S Summer Demand On-Peak 21.59 21.59
AL-TOU-2-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10294 0.11044
AL-TOU-2-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08025 0.08775
AL-TOU-2-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05286 0.06036
AL-TOU-2-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.08188 0.08938
AL-TOU-2-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06871 0.07621
AL-TOU-2-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05410 0.06160

AL-TOU-2-P Summer Demand On-Peak 21.48 21.48
AL-TOU-2-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10227 0.10977
AL-TOU-2-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07971 0.08721
AL-TOU-2-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05256 0.06006
AL-TOU-2-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.08134 0.08884
AL-TOU-2-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06828 0.07578
AL-TOU-2-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05380 0.06130

AL-TOU-2-T Summer Demand On-Peak 20.56 20.56
AL-TOU-2-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.09637 0.10387
AL-TOU-2-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07483 0.08233
AL-TOU-2-T Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04902 0.05652
AL-TOU-2-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07643 0.08393
AL-TOU-2-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06403 0.07153
AL-TOU-2-T Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05022 0.05772

DG-R-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.36723 0.37473
DG-R-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.17463 0.18213
DG-R-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.10246 0.10996
DG-R-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06831 0.07581
DG-R-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05666 0.06416
DG-R-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04375 0.05125

DG-R-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.36663 0.37413
DG-R-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.17395 0.18145
DG-R-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.10219 0.10969
DG-R-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06783 0.07533
DG-R-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05628 0.06378
DG-R-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04349 0.05099

DG-R-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.36138 0.36888
DG-R-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.16777 0.17527
DG-R-T Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.09907 0.10657
DG-R-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06349 0.07099
DG-R-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05252 0.06002
DG-R-T Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04032 0.04782

A6-TOU-P Summer Demand Total 12.29 12.29



A6-TOU-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.1155 0.12300
A6-TOU-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.0907 0.09820
A6-TOU-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06156 0.06906
A6-TOU-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.09328 0.10078
A6-TOU-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07889 0.08639
A6-TOU-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.06293 0.07043

A6-TOU-T Summer Demand Total 11.76 11.76
A6-TOU-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10903 0.11653
A6-TOU-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08534 0.09284
A6-TOU-T Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05765 0.06515
A6-TOU-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.08788 0.09538
A6-TOU-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07420 0.08170
A6-TOU-T Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05898 0.06648

TOU-PA-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.16216 0.16966
TOU-PA-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07772 0.08522
TOU-PA-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04429 0.05179
TOU-PA-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03088 0.03838

TOU-PA-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.16122 0.16872
TOU-PA-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.0772 0.08470
TOU-PA-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04396 0.05146
TOU-PA-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03066 0.03816

TOU-PA-2-S Summer Demand On-Peak 8.87 8.87
TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.06564 0.07314
TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.04995 0.05745
TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03544 0.04294
TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05586 0.06336
TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04658 0.05408
TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03631 0.04381

TOU-PA-2-P Summer Demand On-Peak 8.83 8.83
TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.06521 0.07271
TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.04959 0.05709
TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03514 0.04264
TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05547 0.06297
TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04628 0.05378
TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03611 0.04361

TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Summer Generation On-Peak 0.19056 0.19806
TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08549 0.09299
TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02944 0.03694
TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04298 0.05048
TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03516 0.04266
TOU-PA-3-S <20kW Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02649 0.03399



TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Summer Generation On-Peak 0.18951 0.19701
TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08495 0.09245
TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02917 0.03667
TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04266 0.05016
TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03490 0.04240
TOU-PA-3-P <20kW Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02631 0.03381

TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Summer Demand On-Peak 2.10 2.10
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Summer Generation On-Peak 0.11985 0.12735
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09119 0.09869
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02094 0.02844
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05638 0.06388
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04706 0.05456
TOU-PA-3-S >=20kW Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03671 0.04421

TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Summer Demand On-Peak 2.09 2.09
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Summer Generation On-Peak 0.11916 0.12666
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09062 0.09812
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.02071 0.02821
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Winter Generation On-Peak 0.056 0.06350
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04675 0.05425
TOU-PA-3-P >=20kW Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03651 0.04401

PA-T-1-S Summer Demand On-Peak 4.93 4.93
PA-T-1-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.07582 0.08332
PA-T-1-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05852 0.06602
PA-T-1-S Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04262 0.05012
PA-T-1-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06541 0.07291
PA-T-1-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05506 0.06256
PA-T-1-S Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.0436 0.05110

PA-T-1-P Summer Demand On-Peak 4.92 4.92
PA-T-1-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.07533 0.08283
PA-T-1-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05813 0.06563
PA-T-1-P Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04238 0.04988
PA-T-1-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06499 0.07249
PA-T-1-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05473 0.06223
PA-T-1-P Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04337 0.05087

PA-T-1-T Summer Demand On-Peak 4.70 4.70
PA-T-1-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.07096 0.07846
PA-T-1-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05452 0.06202
PA-T-1-T Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03960 0.04710
PA-T-1-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06113 0.06863
PA-T-1-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05139 0.05889
PA-T-1-T Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.04055 0.04805



LS All Generation Total 0.05442 0.06192

OL-2 All Generation Total 0.06528 0.07278

LS-2-AD Summer Generation On-Peak 0.21541 0.22291
LS-2-AD Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.12249 0.12999
LS-2-AD Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03849 0.04599
LS-2-AD Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05908 0.06658
LS-2-AD Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04955 0.05705
LS-2-AD Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.03887 0.04637

G-DR-SES Summer Generation On-Peak 0.34550 0.35300
G-DR-SES Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.34548 0.35298
G-DR-SES Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.08909 0.09659
G-DR-SES Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.0817 0.08920
G-DR-SES Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07453 0.08203

G-EV-TOU Summer Generation On-Peak 0.29803 0.30553
G-EV-TOU Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.27878 0.28628
G-EV-TOU Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05244 0.05994
G-EV-TOU Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07030 0.07780
G-EV-TOU Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06245 0.06995
G-EV-TOU Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05125 0.05875

G-EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation On-Peak 0.29377 0.30127
G-EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.25617 0.26367
G-EV-TOU-2 Summer Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05244 0.05994
G-EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06638 0.07388
G-EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06546 0.07296
G-EV-TOU-2 Winter Generation Super Off-Peak 0.05125 0.05875

G-TOU-DR Summer Generation On-Peak 0.24328 0.25078
G-TOU-DR Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.14651 0.15401
G-TOU-DR Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.10285 0.11035
G-TOU-DR Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05436 0.06186
G-TOU-DR Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.04052 0.04802
G-TOU-DR Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03211 0.03961

G-TOU-M Summer Generation On-Peak 0.17433 0.18183
G-TOU-M Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.16877 0.17627
G-TOU-M Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.04191 0.04941
G-TOU-M Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06125 0.06875
G-TOU-M Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.04728 0.05478
G-TOU-M Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03846 0.04596

G-OL-TOU Summer Generation On-Peak 0.23145 0.23895



G-OL-TOU Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.21449 0.22199
G-OL-TOU Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05865 0.06615
G-OL-TOU Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07544 0.08294
G-OL-TOU Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05883 0.06633
G-OL-TOU Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04871 0.05621

G-TOU-A-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.22118 0.22868
G-TOU-A-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.11597 0.12347
G-TOU-A-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.03497 0.04247
G-TOU-A-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05846 0.06596
G-TOU-A-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.04492 0.05242
G-TOU-A-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03635 0.04385

G-TOU-A-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.21985 0.22735
G-TOU-A-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.1152 0.12270
G-TOU-A-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.03463 0.04213
G-TOU-A-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.05802 0.06552
G-TOU-A-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.04457 0.05207
G-TOU-A-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.03612 0.04362

G-AL-TOU-S Summer Demand On-Peak 7.03 7.03
G-AL-TOU-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10995 0.11745
G-AL-TOU-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.10265 0.11015
G-AL-TOU-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07443 0.08193
G-AL-TOU-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.10601 0.11351
G-AL-TOU-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.08478 0.09228
G-AL-TOU-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07186 0.07936

G-AL-TOU-P Summer Demand On-Peak 6.99 6.99
G-AL-TOU-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10918 0.11668
G-AL-TOU-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.10201 0.10951
G-AL-TOU-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07403 0.08153
G-AL-TOU-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.10534 0.11284
G-AL-TOU-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.08426 0.09176
G-AL-TOU-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07150 0.07900

G-AL-TOU-T Summer Demand On-Peak 6.68 6.68
G-AL-TOU-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10279 0.11029
G-AL-TOU-T Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.09618 0.10368
G-AL-TOU-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.06961 0.07711
G-AL-TOU-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.09931 0.10681
G-AL-TOU-T Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.07929 0.08679
G-AL-TOU-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.06720 0.07470

G-DG-R-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.23950 0.24700
G-DG-R-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.22524 0.23274
G-DG-R-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09821 0.10571



G-DG-R-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.08003 0.08753
G-DG-R-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.06270 0.07020
G-DG-R-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05216 0.05966

G-DG-R-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.23887 0.24637
G-DG-R-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.22461 0.23211
G-DG-R-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09786 0.10536
G-DG-R-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07947 0.08697
G-DG-R-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.06227 0.06977
G-DG-R-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.05186 0.05936

G-DG-R-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.23357 0.24107
G-DG-R-T Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.21936 0.22686
G-DG-R-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.09391 0.10141
G-DG-R-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07455 0.08205
G-DG-R-T Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05822 0.06572
G-DG-R-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04835 0.05585

G-A6-TOU-P Summer Demand Total 6.99 6.99
G-A6-TOU-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10918 0.11668
G-A6-TOU-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.10201 0.10951
G-A6-TOU-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.07403 0.08153
G-A6-TOU-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.10534 0.11284
G-A6-TOU-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.08426 0.09176
G-A6-TOU-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.07150 0.07900

G-A6-TOU-T Summer Demand Total 6.68 6.68
G-A6-TOU-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.10279 0.11029
G-A6-TOU-T Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.09618 0.10368
G-A6-TOU-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.06961 0.07711
G-A6-TOU-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.09931 0.10681
G-A6-TOU-T Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.07929 0.08679
G-A6-TOU-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.0672 0.07470

G-PA-T-1-S Summer Demand On-Peak 2.4 2.4
G-PA-T-1-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.07036 0.07786
G-PA-T-1-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.06571 0.07321
G-PA-T-1-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05151 0.05901
G-PA-T-1-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.074 0.08150
G-PA-T-1-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05888 0.06638
G-PA-T-1-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04969 0.05719

G-PA-T-1-P Summer Demand On-Peak 2.39 2.39
G-PA-T-1-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.06985 0.07735
G-PA-T-1-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.06528 0.07278
G-PA-T-1-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.05123 0.05873
G-PA-T-1-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.07351 0.08101



G-PA-T-1-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05851 0.06601
G-PA-T-1-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04942 0.05692

G-PA-T-1-T Summer Demand On-Peak 2.28 2.28
G-PA-T-1-T Summer Generation On-Peak 0.06558 0.07308
G-PA-T-1-T Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.06139 0.06889
G-PA-T-1-T Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.04808 0.05558
G-PA-T-1-T Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06922 0.07672
G-PA-T-1-T Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05497 0.06247
G-PA-T-1-T Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04637 0.05387

G-TOU-PA-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20597 0.21347
G-TOU-PA-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.08274 0.09024
G-TOU-PA-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.03347 0.04097
G-TOU-PA-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04677 0.05427
G-TOU-PA-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.03575 0.04325
G-TOU-PA-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.02905 0.03655

G-TOU-PA-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.20475 0.21225
G-TOU-PA-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.08216 0.08966
G-TOU-PA-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.03316 0.04066
G-TOU-PA-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.04642 0.05392
G-TOU-PA-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.03548 0.04298
G-TOU-PA-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.02886 0.03636

G-TOU-PA-2-S Summer Demand On-Peak 0.99 0.99
G-TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation On-Peak 0.15964 0.16714
G-TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.08346 0.09096
G-TOU-PA-2-S Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.02584 0.03334
G-TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06535 0.07285
G-TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05155 0.05905
G-TOU-PA-2-S Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.04314 0.05064

G-TOU-PA-2-P Summer Demand On-Peak 0.98 0.98
G-TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation On-Peak 0.15866 0.16616
G-TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation Semi-Peak 0.08288 0.09038
G-TOU-PA-2-P Summer Generation Off-Peak 0.02556 0.03306
G-TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation On-Peak 0.06491 0.07241
G-TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation Semi-Peak 0.05119 0.05869
G-TOU-PA-2-P Winter Generation Off-Peak 0.0429 0.05040



 

 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 8 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Byron Vosburg, Director of Power Services 
 
CC:   Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO 
 
Subject:  Phase 3 Customer Enrollment Schedule  
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 

Adopt the proposed phase-in schedule for Phase 3 customer enrollment.  
 
BACKGROUND 
San Diego Community Power (SDCP) began serving its first phase of customers on 
March 1, 2021. Consistent with SDCP’s Implementation Plan (December 2019), the first 
customers to receive service (“Phase 1”) include the municipal accounts of SDCP’s 
member communities. The balance of SDCP’s customers are expected to transfer to 
SDCP service during two additional phases. Phase 2, which includes the large majority 
of SDCP’s commercial and industrial customers, will occur during June 2021; SDCP’s 
Implementation Plan estimated this to occur in July 2021, but Phase 2 enrollment was 
pulled forward by a month in early 2020 per discussion with your Board and creation of a 
Financing Plan with River City Bank. Phase 3, which includes residential customers and 
any remaining customers yet to be transitioned to SDCP service was originally scheduled 
for November 2021 and then rescheduled to January 2022 upon consideration of a 
number of financial, regulatory, and technological factors.  SDCP staff have continuously 
monitored market and regulatory conditions, and – in conjunction with revised generation 
rates and a corresponding pro forma financial analysis – recommend that SDCP 
incorporate Phase 3 customers over the months of February through May 2022. 

ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
While evaluating the pro forma financial model and conducting high-level scenario 
analysis, SDCP considered postponing Phase 3 enrollment from January 2022 to May 
2022, which would result in ~$14,000,000 additional net revenue to SDCP in Fiscal Year 
2021-2022. In order to fine-tune options and pursue a similar financial outcome – while 
honoring Board, community, and staff interest in launching residential service as early as 
possible in 2022 – staff devised the following schedule, which it proposes that your Board 
adopt for enrollment of SDCP’s Phase 3 customers:  



 

• February 2022: Imperial Beach 
• March 2022: La Mesa 
• April 2022: Encinitas 
• May 2022: Chula Vista and San Diego 

Staff expect this staggered enrollment of Phase 3 customers to result in projected 
reserves of approximately ~$90,000 less than the initial alternative of delaying all Phase 
3 accounts to May 2022. Staff considers this cost to be worthwhile in order to phase 
customers in more gradually over a longer enrollment period while still beginning 
residential service for SDCP customers early in 2022. 
 
SDCP, like other community choice aggregators, has the ability to adjust the launch of 
various customer segments dependent on financial, customer, or operational needs. Staff 
recommend formalizing this updated schedule for Phase 3 enrolment in order confirm our 
2022 electricity load forecast for regulatory and planning purposes.  
  

FISCAL IMPACT 
Approval of the proposed phase-in schedule would increase projected revenues during 
Fiscal Year 2021-2022 by approximately $14,000,000.  
 

ATTACHMENTS 
N/A 



 

 

SAN DIEGO COMMUNITY POWER 
Staff Report – Item 9 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

To:  San Diego Community Power Board of Directors 

From:   Byron Vosburg, Director of Power Services 
 
Subject:  Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy Farm, LLC.  
 
Date:   April 22, 2021 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RECOMMENDATION 
Adopt the Long-term Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy 
Farm, LLC. 
 
BACKGROUND 
As SDCP strives to meet its environmental, financial, and regulatory compliance goals 
and requirements, long-term power purchase agreements (PPAs) of at least 10 years in 
duration will become integral components of its energy supply portfolio. Long-term 
PPAs provide renewable generation facility developers with the certain revenue stream 
against which they can finance up-front capital requirements, so each long-term PPA 
that SDCP signs with a developing facility will underpin a new, incremental renewable 
energy project. In addition, long-term PPAs lock in renewable energy supply around 
which SDCP can build its power supply portfolio while also providing power supply cost 
certainty around which SDCP can develop its pro forma financial model.  

In response to last year’s Long-term Renewable Energy Request for Offers (RFO), SDCP 
staff received offers from thirty-two suppliers or developers to purchase renewable energy 
from eighty-four unique project configurations. Staff reviewed these responses with the 
Ad Hoc Contracts Committee on August 4, 2020 and narrowed them down on August 18, 
2020 to a “short-list” of potential projects with which to enter PPA negotiations. Vikings 
Energy Farm is the first of those shortlisted projects to complete contract negotiations 
and was reviewed – along with two additional PPAs that staff expect to review with the 
Board in May – with the Finance and Risk Management Committee on April 15, 2021. 

ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION 
Staff negotiated the attached PPA for the purchase of renewable energy and resource 
adequacy from Vikings Energy Farm, which is a solar-plus-battery-storage project to be 
developed just outside of Holtville, CA in Imperial County by RAI Energy International, 
Inc. (“RAI Energy”). 



 

The project has a guaranteed capacity of 100 MW of solar production and up to 150 MW 
of battery storage capacity. The storage capacity will be determined by the Import 
Allocation that SDCP is able to secure via an annual CAISO process that will allow SDCP 
to claim the capacity as Resource Adequacy and, likely, toward incremental capacity 
procurement requirements currently under development at the CPUC. As previously 
reviewed with the Ad Hoc Contracts Committee, the contract offers competitive energy 
and capacity prices.  

Renewable energy produced by the facility will be an important ~271 GWh/year 
foundation of long-term renewable energy deliveries within SDCP’s power supply portfolio 
(~5,400 GWh/year once fully enrolled). 

Below is additional information regarding RAI Energy and the draft PPA. 

Background – RAI Energy International, Inc. (“RAI Energy”) 

• Headquartered in San Jose, CA 
• Established in 2006 
• Developed 50 MW Seville Solar in Imperial County, which has delivered under 

PPA to SD&E and IID since 2012 and 2013, respectively 
• Developed 60 MW of utility scale solar projects in Jordan 
• Actively developing over 500 MW of solar capacity and over 750 MW of battery 

storage capacity in CA and AZ 

Contract Overview – Vikings Energy Farm, LLC 
• Project: 

o 100 MW Solar 
o Up to 150 MW/600 MWh – Lithium-ion battery energy storage system 

• Project location: Holtville, Imperial Co, CA 
• Guaranteed commercial operation date: June 30, 2023 
• Contract term: 20 years 
• Expected annual energy production: approximately 271,000 MWhs 
• Guaranteed energy production: 85% of projected annual deliveries 
• Energy price: 

o Solar – Fixed energy price applicable to the full term of the agreement 
o BESS – Fixed capacity price adjusted for efficiency, availability and verified 

capacity 
• No credit or collateral obligations for SDCP 
• SDCP would receive financial compensation in the event of seller’s failure to 

successfully achieve certain development milestones 
 

FISCAL IMPACT 
The competitive energy and capacity pricing of the PPA are confidential, but the long-
term purchase of renewable energy and capacity will provide SDCP with significant value 
and cost certainty over the term of this PPA 
 



 

ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A: Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy Farm, LLC 


	3. Item 2 Staff Report_4.22.21 (Treasurer Report)_SSreviewed_ch_FINAL
	From:   Michael Maher, Maher Accountancy

	4. Item 2__Attachment A_2021-02 SDCP Financial Statements
	5. Item 2_Attachment B_2021-02 SDCP Budget Report
	6. Item 3_SDCP Rep to La Mesa ESC_4.16.21_SS CH FINAL
	From:   Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO

	7. Item 3_Attachment A_SDCP ESC Member Staff Report First Reading 2021
	8. Item 3_Attachment B_SDCP ESC Member Staff Report Second Reading 2021
	9. Item 3_Attachment C_Draft Appointment Letter
	10. Item 4_SDCP Ops and Admin Report_04.22.21draft_bc_ lf_ss
	11. Item 4 SDCP County CCE offer request letter04.18.21
	12. Item 4 SDCP - County Minutes 04.18.21
	13. Item 4 SDCP Org Chart 04.17.21
	Slide Number 1

	14. Item 5_Regulatory and Legislative Staff Report ch FINAL
	From:   Laura Fernandez, Director of Regulatory and Legislative Affairs

	15. Item 7_Approval of June 2021 Rates_Final_LU Draft ch FINAL
	John Dalessi, Pacific Energy Advisors, Inc.
	CC:  Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO

	16. Item 7 Attachment A_SDCP Rates Effective 06.01.2021
	17. Item 8_Phase 3 Customer Enrollment Schedule _draft1 ch FINAL
	From:   Byron Vosburg, Director of Power Services
	CC:   Bill Carnahan, Interim CEO

	18. Item 9_Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy Farm LLC _draft1
	From:   Byron Vosburg, Director of Power Services

	1. AGENDA.2021.4.22_SDCP.BoardofDirectors_04.19.21.pdf
	April 22, 2021
	5:00 p.m.

	18. Item 9_Renewable Power Purchase Agreement with Vikings Energy Farm LLC _draft1.pdf
	From:   Byron Vosburg, Director of Power Services

	19. Item 9 - Attachment A SDCP PPA - Vikings Energy (Final Agenda Version - Redacted)-c1.pdf
	ARTICLE 1  DEFINITIONS
	1.1 Contract Definitions
	(a) any ownership interest in Seller held by Ultimate Parent indirectly through one or more intermediate entities shall not be counted towards Ultimate Parent’s ownership interest in Seller unless Ultimate Parent directly or indirectly owns more than ...

	1.2 Rules of Interpretation
	(a) headings and the rendering of text in bold and italics are for convenience and reference purposes only and do not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement;
	(b) words importing the singular include the plural and vice versa and the masculine, feminine and neuter genders include all genders;
	(c) the words “hereof”, “herein”, and “hereunder” and words of similar import shall refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement;
	(d) a reference to an Article, Section, paragraph, clause, Party, or Exhibit is a reference to that Section, paragraph, clause of, or that Party or Exhibit to, this Agreement unless otherwise specified;
	(e) a reference to a document or agreement, including this Agreement means such document, agreement or this Agreement including any amendment or supplement to, or replacement, novation or modification of this Agreement, but disregarding any amendment,...
	(f) a reference to a Person includes that Person’s successors and permitted assigns;
	(g) the term “including” means “including without limitation” and any list of examples following such term shall in no way restrict or limit the generality of the word or provision in respect of which such examples are provided;
	(h) references to any statute, code or statutory provision are to be construed as a reference to the same as it may have been, or may from time to time be, amended, modified or reenacted, and include references to all bylaws, instruments, orders and r...
	(i) in the event of a conflict, a mathematical formula or other precise description of a concept or a term shall prevail over words providing a more general description of a concept or a term;
	(j) references to any amount of money shall mean a reference to the amount in United States Dollars;
	(k) words, phrases or expressions not otherwise defined herein that (i) have a generally accepted meaning in Prudent Operating Practice shall have such meaning in this Agreement or (ii) do not have well known and generally accepted meaning in Prudent ...
	(l) each Party acknowledges that it was represented by counsel in connection with this Agreement and that it or its counsel reviewed this Agreement and that any rule of construction to the effect that ambiguities are to be resolved against the draftin...


	ARTICLE 2  TERM; CONDITIONS PRECEDENT
	2.1 Contract Term.
	(a) The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall remain in full force and effect until the conclusion of the Delivery Term, subject to any early termination provisions set forth herein (“Contract Term”); provided, however,...
	(b) Applicable provisions of this Agreement shall continue in effect after termination, including early termination, to the extent necessary to enforce or complete the duties, obligations or responsibilities of the Parties arising prior to termination...

	2.2 Conditions Precedent
	(a) Seller has delivered to Buyer (i) a completion certificate from a Licensed Professional Engineer substantially in the form of Exhibit H and (ii)- a certificate from a Licensed Professional Engineer substantially in the form of Exhibit I setting fo...
	(b) A Pseudo-tie Participating Generator Agreement between Seller and CAISO shall have been executed and delivered and be in full force and effect, or the Seller has elected to become a Dynamic System Resource and a copy of each such agreement deliver...
	(c) An Interconnection Agreement between Seller and the PTO shall have been executed and delivered and be in full force and effect and a copy of the Interconnection Agreement delivered to Buyer;
	(d) All applicable regulatory authorizations, approvals and permits required for the operation of the Facility have been obtained and all required conditions thereof that are capable of being satisfied on the Commercial Operation Date have been satisf...
	(e) Seller has received CEC Precertification of the Facility (and reasonably expects to receive final CEC Certification and Verification for the Facility in no more than one hundred eighty (180) days from the Commercial Operation Date);
	(f) Seller (with the reasonable participation of Buyer) shall have completed all applicable WREGIS registration requirements that are reasonably capable of being completed prior to the Commercial Operation Date under WREGIS rules, including (as applic...
	(g) Seller has delivered the Performance Security to Buyer in accordance with Section 8.8; and
	(h) Seller has paid Buyer for all amounts owing under this Agreement as of the Commercial Operation Date, if any, including Commercial Operation Delay Damages.

	2.3 Development; Construction; Progress Reports
	2.4 Remedial Action Plan

	ARTICLE 3  PURCHASE AND SALE
	3.1 Purchase and Sale of Product
	Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, during the Delivery Term, Buyer will purchase and receive all of the Product produced by or associated with the Facility at the Contract Price and in accordance with Exhibit C, and Seller shall su...

	3.2 Sale of Green Attributes.
	3.3 Reserved.
	3.4 Ownership of Renewable Energy Incentives.
	3.5 Future Environmental Attributes.
	(a) The Parties acknowledge and agree that as of the Effective Date, environmental attributes sold under this Agreement are restricted to Green Attributes; however, Future Environmental Attributes may be created by a Governmental Authority through Law...
	(b) If Buyer elects to receive Future Environmental Attributes pursuant to Section 3.5(a), the Parties agree to negotiate in good faith with respect to the development of further agreements and documentation necessary to effectuate the transfer of suc...

	3.6 Reserved.
	3.7 Resource Adequacy Benefits.
	(a) Prior to the Delivery Term, Seller shall use best efforts to seek to qualify the Facility as a Pseudo-Tie Resource with the CAISO pursuant to the CAISO’s New Resource Implementation process.  Seller shall provide periodic progress reports to Buyer...
	(b) Throughout the Delivery Term, Seller grants, pledges, assigns and otherwise commits to Buyer all the Resource Adequacy Benefits from the Facility and Seller and its Scheduling Coordinator will take all steps necessary pursuant to Section 3.7(e) to...
	(c) Throughout the Delivery Term, and subject to the cost cap set forth in Section 3.12, Seller shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that the Facility qualifies to provide Resource Adequacy Benefits to Seller. Throughout the Delivery Te...
	(d) Pursuant to the CAISO’s available import commitment process described in the CAISO Business Practice Manual for Reliability Requirements and subject to Section 3.8, Buyer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain and maintain the Import ...
	(e) For the duration of the Delivery Term, Seller shall take all commercially reasonable administrative actions, including complying with all applicable registration and reporting requirements, and execute all documents or instruments necessary to ena...

	3.8 Determination of Resource Adequacy Benefits
	(a) Buyer will have a firm obligation to obtain the Import Capability necessary for the importation of .
	(b) In addition to Buyer’s commitment in Section 3.8(a), it is the intent of Buyer and Seller that Buyer will attempt to acquire sufficient Import Capability to import :

	3.9 CEC Certification and Verification.
	3.10 Reserved
	3.11 RPS Standard Terms and Conditions.
	(c)
	(a) Seller warrants that all necessary steps to allow the Renewable Energy Credits transferred to Buyer to be tracked in WREGIS will be taken prior to the first delivery under this Agreement.
	(b) Seller, and, if applicable, its successors, represents and warrants that throughout the Delivery Term of this Agreement that:  (i) the Facility qualifies and is certified by the CEC as an Eligible Renewable Energy Resource as such term is defined ...
	(c) Seller and, if applicable, its successors, represents and warrants that throughout the Delivery Term of this Agreement the renewable energy credits transferred to Buyer conform to the definition and attributes required for compliance with the Cali...

	3.12 Compliance Expenditure Cap.
	3.13 Project Configuration

	ARTICLE 4  OBLIGATIONS AND DELIVERIES
	4.1 Delivery
	(a) Energy.  Subject to the provisions of this Agreement, commencing on the Commercial Operation Date and through the end of the Contract Term, Seller shall supply and deliver the Product to Buyer at the Delivery Point, and Buyer shall take delivery o...
	(b) Green Attributes.  All Green Attributes associated with the Facility Energy during the Delivery Term are exclusively dedicated to and will be conveyed to Buyer. Seller represents and warrants that Seller holds the rights to all Green Attributes fr...

	4.2 Title and Risk of Loss.
	(a) Energy.  Title to and risk of loss related to the Facility Energy, shall pass and transfer from Seller to Buyer at the Delivery Point. Seller warrants that all Product delivered to Buyer is free and clear of all liens, security interests, claims a...
	(b) Green Attributes.  Title to and risk of loss related to the Green Attributes associated with the Facility Energy shall pass and transfer from Seller to Buyer upon the transfer of such Green Attributes in accordance with WREGIS.

	4.3 Forecasting
	4.4 Notification of Forced Facility Outages.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, Seller shall promptly notify Buyer of any Forced Facility Outages that Seller reasonably expects will reduce Expected Energy for any given month in excess o...
	4.5 Reserved
	4.6 Reduction in Delivery Obligation
	(a) Facility Maintenance.  Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product during any period of scheduled maintenance on the Facility (a “Planned Outage”).
	(b) Forced Facility Outage.  Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product during any Forced Facility Outage. Seller shall provide Buyer with Notice and expected duration (if known) of any Forced Facility Outage.
	(c) System Emergencies and other Interconnection Events.  Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product during any period of System Emergency, or upon Notice of a Curtailment Order pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Interconnecti...
	(d) Force Majeure Event.  Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product during any Force Majeure Event.
	(e) Buyer Default. Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product during any period in which there is Buyer Default.
	(f) Health and Safety.  Seller shall be permitted to reduce deliveries of Product as necessary to maintain health and safety pursuant to Section 6.2.

	4.7 Guaranteed Energy Production
	4.8 Reserved
	4.9 Storage Capacity Tests
	4.10 WREGIS
	(a) Prior to the Commercial Operation Date, Seller shall register the Facility with WREGIS and establish an account with WREGIS (“Seller’s WREGIS Account”), which Seller shall maintain until the end of the Delivery Term. Seller shall transfer the WREG...
	(b) Seller shall cause Forward Certificate Transfers to occur on a monthly basis in accordance with the certification procedure established by the WREGIS Operating Rules.  Since WREGIS Certificates will only be created for whole MWh amounts of Facilit...
	(c) Seller shall, at its sole expense, ensure that the WREGIS Certificates for a given calendar month correspond with the Facility Energy for such calendar month as evidenced by the Facility’s metered data.
	(d) Due to the ninety (90) day delay in the creation of WREGIS Certificates relative to the timing of invoice payment under Section 8.2, Buyer shall make an invoice payment for a given month in accordance with Section 8.2 before the WREGIS Certificate...
	(e) A “WREGIS Certificate Deficit” means any deficit or shortfall in WREGIS Certificates delivered to Buyer for a calendar month as compared to the Facility Energy for the same calendar month (“Deficient Month”) caused by an error or omission of Selle...
	(f) If  (i) WREGIS changes the WREGIS Operating Rules after the Effective Date or applies the WREGIS Operating Rules in a manner inconsistent with this Section 4.10 after the Effective Date, or (ii) the Parties enable the Storage Facility to be charge...


	ARTICLE 5  TAXES
	5.1 Allocation of Taxes and Charges.
	5.2 Cooperation.

	ARTICLE 6  MAINTENANCE OF THE FACILITY
	6.1 Maintenance of the Facility.
	6.2 Maintenance of Health and Safety.
	6.3 Shared Facilities

	ARTICLE 7  METERING
	7.1 Metering.
	7.2 Meter Verification.

	ARTICLE 8  INVOICING AND PAYMENT; CREDIT
	8.1 Invoicing.
	8.2 Payment.
	8.3 Books and Records.
	8.4 Payment Adjustments; Billing Errors.
	8.5 Billing Disputes.
	8.6 Netting of Payments.
	8.7 Seller’s Development Security.
	8.8 Seller’s Performance Security.
	8.9 First Priority Security Interest in Cash or Cash Equivalent Collateral
	8.10 Financial Statements.
	8.11 Buyer’s Financial Statements.  During any period during the Term when Buyer does not have or maintain an Investment Grade Credit Rating, Buyer shall provide to Seller, both upon request and as indicated below:  (a) within ninety (90) days followi...

	ARTICLE 9  NOTICES
	9.1 Addresses for the Delivery of Notices
	9.2 Acceptable Means of Delivering Notice

	ARTICLE 10  FORCE MAJEURE
	10.1 Definition
	(a) “Force Majeure Event” means any act or event that delays or prevents a Party from timely performing all or a portion of its obligations under this Agreement or from complying with all or a portion of the conditions under this Agreement if such act...
	(b) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, so long as the following events, despite the exercise of reasonable efforts, cannot be avoided by, and are beyond the reasonable control (whether direct or indirect) of and without the fault or neg...
	(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, the term “Force Majeure Event” does not include (i) economic conditions that render a Party’s performance of this Agreement at the Contract Price unprofitable or otherwise uneconomic (including an increase in compone...

	10.2 No Liability If a Force Majeure Event Occurs
	10.3 Notice
	10.4 Termination Following Force Majeure Event

	ARTICLE 11  DEFAULTS; REMEDIES; TERMINATION
	11.1 Events of Default
	(a) with respect to a Party (the “Defaulting Party”) that is subject to the Event of Default the occurrence of any of the following:
	(i) the failure by such Party to make, when due, any payment required pursuant to this Agreement and such failure is not remedied within ten (10) Business Days after Notice thereof;
	(ii) any representation or warranty made by such Party herein is false or misleading in any material respect when made or when deemed made or repeated, and such default is not remedied within thirty (30) days after Notice thereof (or such longer addit...
	(iii) the failure by such Party to perform any material covenant or obligation set forth in this Agreement (except to the extent constituting a separate Event of Default set forth in this Section 11.1; and except for (1) failure to deliver Resource Ad...
	(iv) such Party becomes Bankrupt;
	(v) such Party assigns this Agreement or any of its rights hereunder other than in compliance with Section 14.1 or 14.2, as applicable; or
	(vi) such Party consolidates or amalgamates with, or merges with or into, or transfers all or substantially all of its assets to, another entity and, at the time of such consolidation, amalgamation, merger or transfer, the resulting, surviving or tran...

	(b) with respect to Seller as the Defaulting Party, the occurrence of any of the following:
	(i) if at any time, Seller delivers or attempts to deliver electric energy to the Delivery Point for sale under this Agreement that was not generated or discharged by the Facility, except for Replacement Product;
	(ii) the failure by Seller to achieve Commercial Operation within one hundred twenty (120) days after the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date;
	(iii) if not remedied within ten (10) Business Days after Notice thereof, the failure by Seller to deliver a Remedial Action Plan required under Section 2.4;
	(iv) if, in any consecutive six (6) month period after the Commercial Operation Date, the Adjusted Energy Production amount (calculated in accordance with Exhibit G) for such period is not at least ten percent (10%) of the Expected Energy amount for s...
	(v) if, in any Contract Year during the Delivery Term, the Adjusted Energy Production amount is not at least  of the Expected Energy amount;
	(vi) if, in any two (2) consecutive Contract Year period during the Delivery Term, the Adjusted Energy Production amount is not at least  of the Expected Energy amount;
	(vii) failure by Seller to satisfy the collateral requirements pursuant to Sections 8.7 or 8.8 after Notice and expiration of the cure periods set forth therein, including the failure to replenish the Performance Security amount in accordance with thi...
	(viii) with respect to any Guaranty provided for the benefit of Buyer, the failure by Seller to provide for the benefit of Buyer either (1) cash, (2) a replacement Guaranty from a different Guarantor meeting the criteria set forth in the definition of...
	(A) if any representation or warranty made by the Guarantor in connection with this Agreement is false or misleading in any material respect when made or when deemed made or repeated, and such default is not remedied within thirty (30) days after Noti...
	(B) the failure of the Guarantor to make any payment required or to perform any other material covenant or obligation in any Guaranty;
	(C) the Guarantor becomes Bankrupt;
	(D) the Guarantor shall fail to meet the criteria for an acceptable Guarantor as set forth in the definition of Guarantor;
	(E) the failure of the Guaranty to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms) prior to the indefeasible satisfaction of all obligations of Seller hereunder; or
	(F) the Guarantor shall repudiate, disaffirm, disclaim, or reject, in whole or in part, or challenge the validity of any Guaranty; or

	(ix) with respect to any outstanding Letter of Credit provided for the benefit of Buyer that is not then required under this Agreement to be canceled or returned, the failure by Seller to provide for the benefit of Buyer either (1) cash, or (2) a subs...
	(A) the issuer of the outstanding Letter of Credit shall fail to maintain a Credit Rating of at least A- by S&P or A3 by Moody’s;
	(B) the issuer of such Letter of Credit becomes Bankrupt;
	(C) the issuer of the outstanding Letter of Credit shall fail to comply with or perform its obligations under such Letter of Credit and such failure shall be continuing after the lapse of any applicable grace period permitted under such Letter of Cred...
	(D) the issuer of the outstanding Letter of Credit shall fail to honor a properly documented request to draw on such Letter of Credit;
	(E) the issuer of the outstanding Letter of Credit shall disaffirm, disclaim, repudiate or reject, in whole or in part, or challenge the validity of, such Letter of Credit;
	(F) such Letter of Credit fails or ceases to be in full force and effect at any time; or
	(G) Seller shall fail to renew or cause the renewal of each outstanding Letter of Credit on a timely basis as provided in the relevant Letter of Credit and as provided in accordance with this Agreement, and in no event less than sixty (60) days prior ...



	11.2 Remedies; Declaration of Early Termination Date.
	(a)  to send Notice, designating a day, no earlier than the day such Notice is deemed to be received and no later than thirty (30) days after such Notice is deemed to be received, as an early termination date of this Agreement (“Early Termination Date...
	(b) to accelerate all amounts owing between the Parties, and to collect as liquidated damages (i) the Damage Payment (in the case of an Event of Default by Seller occurring before the Commercial Operation Date, including an Event of Default under Sect...
	(c) to withhold any payments due to the Defaulting Party under this Agreement;
	(d) to suspend performance; or
	(e) to exercise any other right or remedy available at law or in equity, including specific performance or injunctive relief, except to the extent such remedies are expressly limited under this Agreement;
	provided, that payment by the Defaulting Party of the Damage Payment or Termination Payment, as applicable, shall constitute liquidated damages and the Non-Defaulting Party’s sole and exclusive remedy for the Terminated Transaction and the Event of De...

	11.3 Termination Payment
	11.4 Notice of Payment of Termination Payment
	11.5 Disputes With Respect to Termination Payment
	11.6 Rights And Remedies Are Cumulative
	11.7 Seller Pre-COD Liability Limitations

	ARTICLE 12  LIMITATION OF LIABILITY AND EXCLUSION OF WARRANTIES
	12.1 No Consequential Damages.
	12.2 Waiver and Exclusion of Other Damages.

	ARTICLE 13  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; AUTHORITY
	13.1 Seller’s Representations and Warranties.
	(a) Seller is a limited liability company, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation, and is qualified to conduct business in the state of California and each jurisdiction where the failu...
	(b) Seller has the power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement and is not prohibited from entering into this Agreement or discharging and performing all covenants and obligations on its part to be performed under and pursuant to this ...
	(c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, and fulfillment of and compliance by Seller with the provisions of this Agreement will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or a default und...
	(d) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Seller. This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of Seller enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws of general applicability limiting the enforcement ...
	(e) The Facility is located in the State of California.
	(f) Seller will be responsible for obtaining all permits necessary to construct and operate the Facility.

	13.2 Buyer’s Representations and Warranties  As of the Effective Date, Buyer represents and warrants as follows:
	(a) Buyer is a joint powers authority and a validly existing community choice aggregator, duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of California and the rules, regulations and orders of the California Public Ut...
	(b) Buyer has the power and authority to enter into and perform this Agreement and is not prohibited from entering into this Agreement or discharging and performing all covenants and obligations on its part to be performed under and pursuant to this A...
	(c) The execution and delivery of this Agreement, consummation of the transactions contemplated herein, and fulfillment of and compliance by Buyer with the provisions of this Agreement will not conflict with or constitute a breach of or a default unde...
	(d) This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by Buyer. This Agreement is a legal, valid and binding obligation of Buyer enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as limited by laws of general applicability limiting the enforcement of...
	(e) Buyer warrants and covenants that with respect to its contractual obligations under this Agreement, it will not claim and affirmatively waives immunity on the grounds of sovereignty or similar grounds with respect to itself or its revenues or asse...
	(f) Buyer is a “local public entity” as defined in Section 900.4 of the Government Code of the State of California.

	13.3 General Covenants
	(a) It shall continue to be duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation and to be qualified to conduct business in California and each jurisdiction where the failure to so qualify would hav...
	(b) It shall maintain (or obtain from time to time as required) all regulatory authorizations, approvals and permits necessary for the operation of the Facility and for each Party to legally perform their obligations under this Agreement; and
	(c) It shall perform its obligations under this Agreement in compliance with all terms and conditions in its governing documents and in material compliance with any Law.

	13.4 Prevailing Wage

	ARTICLE 14  ASSIGNMENT
	14.1 General Prohibition on Assignments
	14.2 Collateral Assignment
	(a) consistent in all material respects with this Agreement; and
	(b) not adversely affect any of Buyer’s rights and obligations under this Agreement; provided that a provision in the documents requested to effectuate such assignment obligating Buyer to provide a Lender notice of Event of Default and an opportunity ...


	ARTICLE 15  DISPUTE RESOLUTION
	15.1 Governing Law.
	15.2 Venue.
	15.3 Dispute Resolution.

	ARTICLE 16  INDEMNIFICATION
	16.1 Mutual Indemnity
	16.2 Notice of Claim.
	16.3 Failure to Provide Notice.
	16.4 Defense of Claims
	16.5 Subrogation of Rights
	16.6 Rights and Remedies are Cumulative

	ARTICLE 17  INSURANCE
	17.1 Insurance
	(a) General Liability.  Seller shall maintain, or cause to be maintained at its sole expense, (i) commercial general liability insurance with a minimum of liability limits in the amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence and Two Millio...
	(b) Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance.  Seller shall maintain, or cause to be maintained at its sole expense, an Umbrella or Excess Liability Insurance policy in a minimum amount of liability of Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000) per occurrence an...
	(c) Workers Compensation Insurance.  Seller, if it has employees, shall also maintain at all times during the Contract Term Workers’ Compensation and Employers’ Liability insurance coverage in accordance with applicable requirements of California Law....
	(d) Business Auto Liability Insurance.  Seller shall maintain at all times during the Contract Term Business Auto Liability insurance for bodily injury and property damage with limits of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per occurrence. Such insurance ...
	(e) Construction All-Risk Insurance.  Seller shall maintain or cause to be maintained during the construction of the Facility, but only after major electrical generating equipment as arrived at the Facility, prior to the Commercial Operation Date, con...
	(f) Pollution Legal Liability.  Seller shall maintain or cause to be maintained during the construction of the Facility prior to the Commercial Operation Date, Pollution Legal Liability Insurance in the amount of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per o...
	(g) Subcontractor Insurance.  Seller shall require all of its subcontractors with contracts with a value in excess of $1,000,000 to carry the same levels of insurance as Seller except where Seller has reasonably determined that no exposure exists.  Al...
	(h) Evidence of Insurance.  Within thirty (30) days after execution of the Agreement and upon annual renewal thereafter, Seller shall deliver to Buyer certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage. Buyer shall be given at least thirty (30) days p...


	ARTICLE 18  CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
	18.1 Definition of Confidential Information
	18.2 Duty to Maintain Confidentiality. Confidential Information will retain its character as Confidential Information but may be disclosed by the recipient (the “Receiving Party”) if and to the extent such disclosure is required (a) to be made by any ...
	18.3 Irreparable Injury; Remedies.  Receiving Party acknowledges that its obligations hereunder are necessary and reasonable in order to protect Disclosing Party and the business of Disclosing Party, and expressly acknowledges that monetary damages wo...
	18.4 Disclosure to Lenders, Etc.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 18, Confidential Information may be disclosed by Seller to any actual or potential Lender or investor or any of their Affiliates, and Seller’s actual or potenti...
	18.5 Public Records Act.  Seller and Buyer acknowledge and agree that this Agreement and any documents, notices or confirmations executed in connection therewith are subject to the requirements of the California Public Records Act (Cal. Government Cod...
	18.6 Press Releases.  Neither Party shall issue (or cause its Affiliates to issue) a press release regarding the transactions contemplated by this Agreement unless both Parties have agreed upon the contents of any such public statement.

	ARTICLE 19  MISCELLANEOUS
	19.1 Entire Agreement; Integration; Exhibits.  This Agreement, together with the Cover Sheet and Exhibits attached hereto constitutes the entire agreement and understanding between Seller and Buyer with respect to the subject matter hereof and superse...
	19.2 Amendments.  This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented by an instrument in writing executed by duly authorized representatives of Seller and Buyer; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, this Agreement may not be amended b...
	19.3 No Waiver.  Waiver by a Party of any default by the other Party shall not be construed as a waiver of any other default.
	19.4 No Agency, Partnership, Joint Venture or Lease.  Seller and the agents and employees of Seller shall, in the performance of this Agreement, act in an independent capacity and not as officers or employees or agents of Buyer. Under this Agreement, ...
	19.5 Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement is unenforceable or held to be unenforceable, the Parties agree that all other provisions of this Agreement have force and effect and shall not be affected thereby. The Parties shal...
	19.6 Mobile-Sierra.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, neither Party shall seek, nor shall they support any third party seeking, to prospectively or retroactively revise the rates, terms or conditions of service of this Agreement ...
	19.7 Counterparts; Electronic Signatures.
	19.8 Electronic Delivery.  Delivery of an executed signature page of this Agreement by electronic format (including portable document format (.pdf)) shall be the same as delivery of an original executed signature page.
	19.9 Binding Effect.  This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties and their respective successors and permitted assigns.
	19.10 No Recourse to Members of Buyer.  Buyer is organized as a Joint Powers Authority in accordance with the Joint Exercise of Powers Act of the State of California (Government Code Section 6500, et seq.) pursuant to its Joint Powers Agreement and is...
	19.11 Forward Contract
	19.12 Further Assurances
	19.13 .  Each of the Parties hereto agree to provide such information, execute and deliver any instruments and documents and to take such other actions as may be necessary or reasonably requested by the other Party which are not inconsistent with the ...
	1. Major Project Development Milestones.
	(a) “Construction Start” will occur upon Seller’s execution of an engineering, procurement, and construction contract (or similar agreement) and issuance thereunder of a notice to proceed that authorizes the contractor to mobilize to Site and begin ph...
	2. Commercial Operation of the Facility.  “Commercial Operation” means the condition existing when (i) Seller has provided Notice to Buyer substantially in the form of Exhibit H (the “COD Certificate”), and (ii) Seller has notified Buyer in writing th...
	(a) Seller shall cause Commercial Operation for the Facility to occur by the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date.  Seller shall notify Buyer at least sixty (60) days before the anticipated Commercial Operation Date.
	(b) Reserved
	(c) If Seller does not achieve Commercial Operation by the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date, Seller shall pay Commercial Operation Delay Damages to Buyer for each day after the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date until the Commercial Operation Da...
	3. Termination for Failure to Achieve Commercial Operation.  If the Facility has not achieved Commercial Operation within one hundred and twenty (120) days after the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date, Buyer may elect to terminate this Agreement in ...
	4. Extension of the Guaranteed Dates.  The  Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date shall, subject to notice and documentation requirements set forth below, be automatically extended on a day-for-day basis (the “Development Cure Period”) for the duration...
	(a) Seller has not acquired all material permits, consents, licenses, approvals, or authorizations from any Governmental Authority required for Seller to own, construct, interconnect, operate or maintain the Facility, and to permit the Seller and Faci...
	(b) a Force Majeure Event occurs; or
	(c) either (i) the Interconnection Facilities or Network Upgrades are not complete and ready for the Facility to connect and sell Product at the Delivery Point by the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date, despite the exercise of commercially reasonabl...
	(d) Buyer has not made all necessary arrangements to receive the Facility Energy at the Delivery Point by the Guaranteed Commercial Operation Date.
	5. Failure to Reach Guaranteed Capacity.
	(a) Guaranteed Capacity.  If, at Commercial Operation, the Installed PV Capacity  is less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Guaranteed Capacity, Seller shall have one hundred twenty (120) days after the Commercial Operation Date to install additi...
	(b)   Guaranteed Capacity for Resource Adequacy Benefits.  If, at Commercial Operation, the Installed Battery Capacity is less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Guaranteed Capacity with respect to Resource Adequacy Benefits, Seller shall have one...
	(d) Tax Credits. The Parties agree that the neither the REC Rate nor the Capacity Rate are subject to adjustment or amendment if Seller fails to receive any Tax Credits, or if any Tax Credits expire, are repealed or otherwise cease to apply to Seller ...
	(a) Seller as Scheduling Coordinator for the Facility.  Upon Initial Synchronization of the Facility to the CAISO Grid and through the end of the Delivery Term, Seller shall be the Scheduling Coordinator or designate a qualified third party to provide...
	(b) CAISO/IID Costs and Revenues.  Seller (as Scheduling Coordinator for the Facility) shall be responsible for CAISO and/or IID costs (including penalties, Imbalance Energy costs, and other charges) and shall be entitled to all CAISO and/or IID reven...
	(c) CAISO Settlements.  Seller (as the Facility’s SC) shall be responsible for all settlement functions with the CAISO related to the Facility. Seller shall render a separate invoice to Buyer for any CAISO payments, charges or penalties (“CAISO Charge...
	(d) Dispute Costs.  Seller (as the Facility’s SC) may be required by Buyer to dispute CAISO settlements in respect of the Facility. Buyer agrees to pay Seller’s costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) associated with its involvement ...
	(e) Master File and Resource Data Template.  Seller shall provide the data to the CAISO (and to Buyer) that is required for the CAISO’s Master File and Resource Data Template (or successor data systems) for the Facility consistent with this Agreement....
	(f) NERC Reliability Standards.  Buyer shall cooperate reasonably with Seller to the extent necessary to enable Seller to comply, and for Seller to demonstrate Seller’s compliance with, NERC reliability standards. This cooperation shall include the pr...
	1. Executive Summary.


	2. Facility description.
	3. Site plan of the Facility.
	4. Gantt chart schedule showing progress on achieving each of the Milestones.
	5. Description of any material planned changes to the Facility or the site.
	6. Summary of activities during the previous calendar quarter or month, as applicable.
	7. Forecast of activities scheduled for the current calendar quarter.
	8. Written description about the progress relative to Seller’s Milestones, including whether Seller has met or is on target to meet the Milestones.
	9. List of issues that are likely to potentially affect Seller’s Milestones.
	10. A status report of start-up activities including a forecast of activities ongoing and after start-up, a report on Facility performance including performance projections for the next twelve (12) months.
	11. If applicable, prevailing wage reports as required by Law.
	12. Progress and schedule of all major agreements, contracts, permits, approvals, technical studies, financing agreements and major equipment purchase orders showing the start dates, completion dates, and completion percentages.
	13. Pictures, in sufficient quantity and of appropriate detail, in order to document construction and startup progress of the Facility, the interconnection into the Transmission System and all other interconnection utility services.
	14. Supplier Diversity Reporting (if applicable). Format to be provided by Buyer.
	15. Any other documentation reasonably requested by Buyer.
	1. The Generating Facility is fully operational, reliable and interconnected, fully integrated and synchronized with the Transmission System.
	2. Seller has installed equipment for the Generating Facility with a nameplate capacity of no less than ninety five percent (95%) of the Guaranteed Capacity.
	3. Seller has installed equipment for the Storage Facility with a nameplate capacity of no less than ninety five percent (95%) of the Storage Contract Capacity.
	4. The Generating Facility’s testing included a performance test demonstrating peak electrical output of no less than ninety percent (90%) of the Guaranteed Capacity for the Generating Facility at the Delivery Point, adjusted for ambient conditions on...
	5. The Storage Facility is fully capable of charging, storing and Discharging Energy up to no less than ninety five percent (95%) of the Storage Contract Capacity and receiving instructions to charge, store and discharge energy, all within the operati...
	6. Authorization to parallel the Facility was obtained by the Participating Transmission Provider, [Name of Participating Transmission Owner as appropriate] on _[DATE]_.
	7. The Transmission Provider has provided documentation supporting full unrestricted release for Commercial Operation by [Name of Participating Transmission Owner as appropriate] on _[DATE]_.
	8. The CAISO has provided notification supporting Commercial Operation, in accordance with the CAISO Tariff on _[DATE]_.
	1. The performance test for the Generating Facility demonstrated peak electrical output of __ MW AC at the Delivery Point, as adjusted for ambient conditions on the date of the performance test ;
	2. The Storage Capacity Test demonstrated a maximum dependable operating capability that can be sustained for four (4) consecutive hours to discharge electric energy of __ MW AC to the Delivery Point, (the “Installed Battery Capacity”); and
	3. The sum of 1. and 2. is __ MW AC and shall be the “Installed Capacity”.
	1. Construction Start (as defined in Exhibit B of the Agreement) has occurred, and a copy of the notice to proceed that Seller issued to its contractor as part of Construction Start is attached hereto;
	2. the Construction Start Date occurred on _____________ (the “Construction Start Date”); and
	3. the precise Site on which the Facility is located is, which must be within the boundaries of the previously identified Site: _________________________________________.
	A. Buyer and [SELLER ENTITY], a _____________________ (“Seller”), entered into that certain Renewable Power Purchase Agreement (as amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to time, the “PPA”) dated as of [____], 20___.
	B. Guarantor is entering into this Guaranty as Performance Security to secure Seller’s obligations under the PPA, as required by Section 8.8 of the PPA.
	C. It is in the best interest of Guarantor to execute this Guaranty inasmuch as Guarantor will derive substantial direct and indirect benefits from the execution and delivery of the PPA.
	D. Initially capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meaning set forth in the PPA.
	(i) the extension of time for the payment of any Guaranteed Amount, or
	(ii) any amendment, modification or other alteration of the PPA, or
	(iii) any indemnity agreement Seller may have from any party, or
	(iv) any insurance that may be available to cover any loss, except to the extent insurance proceeds are used to satisfy the Guaranteed Amount, or
	(v) any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution, receivership, insolvency, bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of creditors, reorganization, arrangement, composition or readjustment of, or other similar proceeding affecting, Seller or any...
	(vi) the release, modification, waiver or failure to pursue or seek relief with respect to any other guaranty, pledge or security device whatsoever, or
	(vii) any payment to Buyer by Seller that Buyer subsequently returns to Seller pursuant to court order in any bankruptcy or other debtor-relief proceeding, or
	(viii) those defenses based upon (A) the legal incapacity or lack of power or authority of any Person, including Seller and any representative of Seller to enter into the PPA or perform its obligations thereunder, (B) lack of due execution, delivery, ...
	(ix) any other event or circumstance that may now or hereafter constitute a defense to payment of the Guaranteed Amount, including, without limitation, statute of frauds and accord and satisfaction;
	(i) at any time or from time to time, without notice to Guarantor, the time for payment of any Guaranteed Amount shall be extended, or such performance or compliance shall be waived;
	(ii) the obligation to pay any Guaranteed Amount shall be modified, supplemented or amended in any respect in accordance with the terms of the PPA;
	(iii) subject to Section 10, any (a) sale, transfer or consolidation of Seller into or with any other entity, (b) sale of substantial assets by, or restructuring of the corporate existence of, Seller or (c) change in ownership of any membership intere...
	(iv) the failure by Buyer or any other Person to create, preserve, validate, perfect or protect any security interest granted to, or in favor of, Buyer or any Person.
	8. Governing Law and Forum Selection. This Guaranty shall be governed by, and interpreted and construed in accordance with, the laws of the United States and the State of California, excluding choice of law rules. The Parties agree that any suit, acti...




